

Since January 2020 Elsevier has created a COVID-19 resource centre with free information in English and Mandarin on the novel coronavirus COVID-19. The COVID-19 resource centre is hosted on Elsevier Connect, the company's public news and information website.

Elsevier hereby grants permission to make all its COVID-19-related research that is available on the COVID-19 resource centre - including this research content - immediately available in PubMed Central and other publicly funded repositories, such as the WHO COVID database with rights for unrestricted research re-use and analyses in any form or by any means with acknowledgement of the original source. These permissions are granted for free by Elsevier for as long as the COVID-19 resource centre remains active. Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Veterinary Microbiology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/vetmic

Review article

The viral innate immune antagonism and an alternative vaccine design for PRRS virus

Hanzhong Ke, Dongwan Yoo^{*}

Department of Pathobiology, College of Veterinary Medicine, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Urbana, IL 61802, United States

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Article history: Received 10 November 2016 Received in revised form 10 March 2017 Accepted 13 March 2017

Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) remains one of the most economically significant diseases in the swine industry worldwide. The current vaccines are less satisfactory to confer protections from heterologous infections and long-term persistence, and the need for better vaccines are urgent. The immunological hallmarks in PRRSV-infected pigs include the unusually poor production of type I interferons (IFNs- α/β) and the aberrant and delayed adaptive immune responses, indicating that PRRSV has the ability to suppress both innate and adaptive immune responses in the host. Type I IFNs are the potent antiviral cytokines and recent studies reveal their pleiotropic functions in the priming of expansion and maturation of adaptive immunity. Thus, IFN antagonism-negative PRRSV is hypothesized to be attenuated and to build effective and broad- spectrum innate and adaptive immune responses in pigs. Such vaccines are promising alternatives to traditional vaccines for PRRSV.

© 2017 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introd	luction	6
2	Host	responses to PRRSV infection 7/	6
2.	2.1.	Innate immune response to PRRSV infection 7	6
		211 Type I IFN production and signaling 7/	6
		2.1.2 Type I IFN response to PRRSV infection 77	7
	2.2.	Dendritic cells (DCs)	7
		2.2.1. Regulation of DC functions by type IFNs	7
		2.2.2. Porcine DC response to PRRSV infection	8
	2.3.	NK cells	8
		2.3.1. Regulation of NK cell functions by type I IFNs	8
		2.3.2. Porcine NK cell response to PRRSV infection	8
	2.4.	T lymphocytes	9
		2.4.1. Regulation of T cell functions by type I IFNs	9
		2.4.2. Porcine T cell response to PRRSV infection	9
	2.5.	B lymphocytes	9
		2.5.1. Regulation of B cell functions by type I IFNs	9
		2.5.2. Porcine B cell response to PRRSV infection	9
3.	PRRS\	V proteins and their roles in modulating type I IFN response	0
	3.1.	Nsp1 as a negative regulator for type I IFN production	0
		3.1.1. Nsp1α	0
		3.1.2. Nsp1β	1
	3.2.	Nsp2	2
	3.3.	Nsp4	2

* Corresponding author at: Department of Pathobiology, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, 2001 South Lincoln Avenue, Urbana, IL 61802, United States. *E-mail address:* dyoo@illinois.edu (D. Yoo).







	3.4. Nsp11	. 82
	3.5. Nucleocapsid (N) protein	. 83
4.	Alternative approaches to PRRS vaccines	. 83
5.	Conclusion	. 84
	Acknowledgements	. 85
	References	. 85

1. Introduction

Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) appeared in pigs in the US three decades ago and became endemic in most pig farming countries globally. Shortly after, two prototype viruses have been identified as etiological agents independently in the Netherlands and the US, and named Lelystad and VR-2332, respectively (Benfield et al., 1992; Wensvoort et al., 1991). PRRSV forms the family Arteriviridae along with equine arteritis virus (EAV), lactate dehydrogenase elevating virus (LDV) of mice, and simian hemorrhagic fever virus (SHFV) (Snijder et al., 2013). Subsequent studies reveal that the genomic sequences of Lelystad and VR-2332 share only approximately 60% identity and thus form the Europe genotype (genotype 1) and the North American genotype (genotype 2), respectively (Allende et al., 1999; Nelsen et al., 1999; Wensvoort et al., 1991). PRRSV has been evolving greatly since its emergence, and a recent variant of the genotype 2 in China shows much higher morbidity and mortality compared to previous isolates (Tian et al., 2007; Xiao et al., 2010). In contrast to the genetic variations of the virus, clinical signs of the disease are similar for both genotypes and exhibit the respiratory disease in young pigs and abortion in pregnant sows and gilts (Benfield et al., 1992; Chand et al., 2012; Magar et al., 1995; Nelsen et al., 1999).

The genome of PRRSV is a single-stranded positive-sense RNA of approximately 15 Kb in length with the 5'-cap and 3'-polyadenylated tail (Meulenberg et al., 1993; Nelsen et al., 1999; Wootton et al., 2000). The PRRSV genome contains 11 open reading frames (ORFs): ORF1a, ORF1b, ORF2a, ORF2b, ORFs 3 through 7, plus the newly identified ORF5a and ORF2(TF) (Fang et al., 2012; Firth et al., 2011; Johnson et al., 2011). ORF1a and ORF1b take up 75% of the genome in its 5'-proximimity and code for two large polyproteins, pp1a and pp1ab, of which the latter is produced by -1 ribosomal frame shifting in the overlapping region (Den Boon et al., 1991). Pp1a contains four viral proteases: two papain-like cysteine proteases PLP1 α and PLP1 β , poliovirus 3C-like cysteine proteinase (CP), and serine proteinase (SP) residing in nonstructural protein (nsp) 1α , nsp1 β , nsp2, and nsp4, respectively. The processing of pp1a and pp1ab for PRRSV nonstructural proteins is reviewed elsewhere (Fang and Snijder, 2010; Snijder et al., 2013). PLP1a, PLP1 β , and PLP2 are responsible for cleaving nsp1 α , nsp1 β , and nsp2 off from pp1a, while the serine proteinase in nsp4 cleaves the remaining nsps. From the polyprotein processing, a total of 14 nsps are generated including the newly identified nsp2TF and nsp2N encoded by the newly identified ORF2(TF) within the nsp2 coding sequence, which is generated by -1/-2 ribosomal frame shifting (Fang et al., 2012). The remaining guarter of the viral genome consists of structural genes coding for two major membrane proteins (GP5 and M), five minor membrane proteins (GP2a, GP3, GP4, GP5a, and E), and the nucleocapsid (N) protein.

2. Host responses to PRRSV infection

PRRSV infection is comprised of three phases: acute infection, persistent infection, and extinction. During the acute phase, viremia appears as early as 6 to 12 h post-infection and the PRRSV replicates swiftly in alveolar macrophages and dendritic cells in the lungs and the upper respiratory tract. This phase usually lasts for 3 to 4 weeks until the clearance of viremia (Wills et al., 1997). PRRSV can also build a persistent infection (Allende et al., 2000). During this phase, viral replication occurs only in the lymphoid tissues including tonsils and lymph nodes without viremia excluding the spleen (Beyer et al., 2000; Rowland et al., 2003a), and the persistence lasts for an extended period of up to 180 days. Since PRRSV can persist in the lymphoid tissues, the virus spreads easily from infected pigs to naive pigs. Such transmission makes hard to control PRRS in the field. The virus is eventually eliminated from infected hosts (Linhares et al., 2014; Torremorell et al., 2002), indicating that the pigs are able to develop immune responses that finally clear the infection. The response kinetics to eliminate PRRSV is slow and the overall response is delayed. The reason for this delay may be due to multi-phases of infection, poor induction of innate immune response, poor and delayed production of neutralizing antibodies, and/or delayed maturation and proliferation of cell-mediated immune responses (Lunney et al., 2016; Sun et al., 2012a).

2.1. Innate immune response to PRRSV infection

2.1.1. Type I IFN production and signaling

The innate immune response is the first line of defense of a host in response to infection. Type I interferons (IFNs- α/β) are the most potent antiviral cytokines against invading viruses and trigger expressions of IFN-stimulated genes (ISGs) (Schneider et al., 2014). Virtually all nucleated cells have the ability to produce IFNs- α/β , although plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDC) are the most potent producers of type I IFNs (Liu, 2005). When an RNA virus enters the cell, a series of recognition mechanisms are triggered within the cell. The RNA genome of the virus is sensed by pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) which are consisted of two major categories; retinoic acid-inducible gene (RIG-I)-like receptors (RLRs) distributed in the cytoplasm and toll-like receptors (TLRs) residing in the endosomal membrane. These receptor families work together to maximally sense the "foreigners" despite of their locations (see Wu and Chen, 2014 for innate immune sensing). The signaling cascades are then turned on by PRRs. RIG-I binds to viral RNA and undergoes a conformational change to expose its caspase activation and recruitment domain (CARD) at its N-terminus. The CARD domain then binds to the IFN promoter stimulator-1 (IPS-1) (also known as Cardif, MAVS, or VISA) on the mitochondrial membrane through a CARD-CARD interaction. IPS-1 is an adaptor which recruits the NEMO, TRAF3, and TANK proteins to form a complex, and the complex activates TBK1 and IKK_E. They are the kinases responsible for activating IRF3 and IRF7 by phosphorylation. The phosphorylated IRF3 and IRF7 then form a homodimer or heterodimer and are subsequently translocated to the nucleus (Lin et al., 1998). The dimer in the nucleus is recruited by the CREB (cyclic AMP responsive element binding)-binding protein (CBP) to form an IFN enhanceosome (Panne et al., 2007). Inside the enhanceosome, activated IRF3- or IRF7-dimer binds to the positive regulatory domains (PRDs) I–III regions in the IFN promoters which drives IFNs gene transcription (Dragan et al., 2007; Honda et al., 2005; Sun et al., 2012a). Besides, IPS-1 may also trigger the activation of IKK α and IKK β which phosphorylate I κ B to allow degradation through a proteasom-dependent pathway. Degradation of IkB results in the release of NF- κ B which is another transcription factor that binds to PRDs of IFN genes as well as genes coding for proinflammatory cytokines (Caamano and Hunter, 2002; Honda et al., 2005; Napetschnig and Wu, 2013). Other than activation of the RIG-I-mediated signaling cascades, TLR3 and TLR7 are also involved in sensing viral RNAs in the endosome (Karikó et al., 2004; Kawai and Akira, 2011). TLR3 binds to dsRNA. During the viral genome replication, dsRNA intermediates are produced, thus TLR3 can recruit the TRIF, NAP1 and TRAF3 adaptors, which leads to the activation of TBK1 and IKK ϵ , like RIG-I does, and activates IRF3 and drives IFN gene expression. Similarly, TLR3 can also activate the NF- κ B pathway through the TRAF6, RIP1, TAK1, and IKK (both $-\alpha$ and $-\beta$) signaling (Honda et al., 2005; Wu and Chen, 2014).

Once type I IFNs are produced, they are released from the cell and bind to their receptors (IFNAR1 and IFNAR2) on the same cell (autocrine) or neighbor cells (paracrine). The IFN binding to receptors triggers the Janus kinase 1 (JAK1) and tyrosine kinase 2 (Tyk2) activation, which results in phosphorylation and dimerization of signal transducers and activator of transcription-1 (STAT1) and STAT2 to follow the formation of IFN-stimulated gene factor 3 (ISGF3) complex after recruitment of IRF9. ISGF3 then enters the nucleus and binds to IFN-stimulated regulatory response elements (ISRE) in the promoters of IFN-stimulated genes (ISGs). ISGs are the major executors of IFNs to establish an antiviral status of cells and/ or to regulate other cellular functions (Ivashkiv and Donlin, 2014; Schneider et al., 2014).

2.1.2. Type I IFN response to PRRSV infection

Porcine alveolar macrophages (PAMs) are the main target cells for PRRSV infection (Duan et al., 1997). Evidence is available to show that DCs are also susceptible for PRRSV replication (Loving et al., 2007). The IFN responses during PRRSV infection have been studied and reviewed previously (Han and Yoo, 2014; Sun et al., 2012a; Yoo et al., 2010). The IFN response is meager in PRRSVinfected pigs (Albina et al., 1998b), and remains low shortly after transient elevation below the detection level in the lungs of pigs where PRRSV actively replicates (Van Reeth et al., 1999). Those studies show that the IFN response against PRRSV is poor, suggesting that the virus may actively suppress the IFN production in vivo. Similarly, the suppression of IFN has also been observed in vitro in PRRSV-infected MARC-145 cells and porcine alveolar macrophages (PAMs) (Albina et al., 1998b; Buddaert et al., 1998; Miller et al., 2004). The poor induction of type I IFN response during infection suggests that PRRSV may have adopted various strategies to suppress the induction and function of IFNs- α/β . Subsequent studies shows that the suppression of IFN production is a major strategy of PRRSV to modulate host antiviral defense. At least six viral proteins (nsp1a, nsp1B, nsp2, nsp4, nsp11, and N) have so far been identified as IFN antagonists, and their mechanisms of action are partially characterized (Han and Yoo, 2014; Lunney et al., 2016; Sun et al., 2012a; Yoo et al., 2010). Type I IFNs in swine are comprised of at least 39 functional subtypes, which is more than double of humans, plus 16 pseudogenes in the type I IFN family (Groenen et al., 2012; Sang et al., 2010). For swine, 17 IFN- α subtypes are found and they contain anti-PRRSV activities (Sang et al., 2010). The second largest subtypes of swine type I IFNs is IFN- δ which contains 11 members, and this population of type I IFNs is growing and rapidly evolving (Dawson et al., 2013; Groenen et al., 2012; Sang et al., 2014a). The rest of swine type I IFNs includes seven subtypes of IFN- ω , and a sole type of IFN- β , IFN- ϵ , IFN-κ, and IFN- α/ω (Groenen et al., 2012; Sang et al., 2014a, 2010). The antiviral effects of these subtypes are dependent on the cell types and invading viruses. It seems apparent that the type I IFN system in swine is more complicated than that of human, and many subtypes remain unclear in their antiviral actions for PRRSV, which warrants further studies on the interactions between PRRSV and these subtypes. The majority of mechanistic studies for type I IFN antagonism by PRRSV have focused on IFNs- α/β , largely due to their dominant role for antiviral activity.

2.2. Dendritic cells (DCs)

In addition to building an antiviral status by stimulating numerous ISG expressions, type I IFNs can also suppress viral infection indirectly by targeting NK cells, DCs, T cells, and B cell. The production of type I IFNs is in favor of a host to defend infection via three major actions: First, type I IFNs induce intrinsic antiviral activities through the JAK-STAT signaling pathway and the expression of hundreds of antiviral proteins (Schneider et al., 2014). Second, type I IFNs can also enhance antigen presentation in DCs and their migration to lymph nodes. The improved antigen presentation by DCs facilitates the maturation and proliferation of T cells. Third, type I IFNs activate and promote T cells and B cells directly by enhancing their antigen presentation, cytokine productions including IFN- γ , and chemokine production. The importance of type I IFNs in the development of adaptive immunity draws attentions and depicted in Fig. 1.

2.2.1. Regulation of DC functions by type I IFNs

Dendritic cell is the bridge between the innate and adaptive immunity. Type I IFNs regulate the function of DCs through an autocrine manner (Baranek et al., 2012) and activate the immature DCs to functional antigen-presenting cells (APCs) (Gessani et al., 2014). The MHC expression in DCs is elevated, so as in CD80 and CD86 which contribute to the DC activities to stimulate T cells from peripheral blood in humans or bone marrows in mice (Ito et al., 2001; Montoya et al., 2002). During vaccinia virus infection or lymphocytic choriomeningitits virus (LCMV) infection, type I IFNs promote the ability of DCs to cross-present antigens to T cells, as well as modulating the antigen survival and processing by T cells (Le Bon et al., 2003; Spadaro et al., 2012). Bringing viral antigens from the site of infection to lymph nodes and presenting them to T cells is how DCs perform their antigen presentation. Type I IFNs positively regulate the expression of MIP-3 β , CCR-7, and Th1-type chemokines, and the DC migration is affected by these chemokines. Thus, it seems clear that type I IFNs promote mature DCs to migrate to lymph nodes, contributing to their antigen-presentation activities as shown in humans and mice for PBMCs (Parlato et al., 2001; Rouzaut et al., 2010). IL-12 is another cytokine that potently regulates NK cells, T cells secreting IFN- γ , and Th1 cells in response to viral infection (Gautier et al., 2005). Bone marrowderived DCs produce IL-12 in humans or mice, and this activity is tightly regulated by type I IFNs (Gautier et al., 2005). The importance of DCs in regulating normal function of adaptive immune cells is amplified by the fact that, in type I IFN receptordeficient DCs, the norovirus persistence is increased even in the presence of enhanced adaptive immunity (Nice et al., 2016). In that study, type I IFNs primed DCs, and mature DCs were necessary for adaptive immune response. Not only on the positive regulation of DCs by type I IFNs, an attention needs to be paid on the negative modulation. Thus, depending on the circumstance, type I IFNs can suppress DC maturation or IL-12 secretion (Cousens et al., 1997; Dauer et al., 2003). DCs are the major cell population expressing type I IFNs and connect the innate immunity to adaptive immunity, which makes DCs crucial for activation and maturation of adaptive immunity. Fine tuning on DCs by IFNs can enhance the role in the network important for the both innate and adaptive immune responses (Gommerman et al., 2014).

2.2.2. Porcine DC response to PRRSV infection

Since PRRSV can infect DCs (Loving et al., 2007), the response of DCs to PRRSV infection is of interest. The production of type I IFNs



Fig. 1. Pleiotropic roles of type I IFNs for regulation of adaptive immunity. Type I IFNs stimulate dendritic cells (DC), CD4+T cells, CD8+T cells, B cells, and NK cells (indicated in solid arrow lines). Type I IFNs also promote the cross-talk of DCs with NK cells and CD4+ T cells. The inter-connection of CD4+ T cells with CD8+ T cells and plasma B cells help the development of adaptive immunity (indicated in dotted arrow lines). Vertical arrows indicate positive regulation (↑) or negative regulation (↓) of cellular functions by type I IFNs. Numbers in parenthesis indicate relevant references. '(h)' associated with references in the figure legend denotes the information derived for humans and '(m)' denotes the information derived from murine models. (1) Ito et al., 2001 (h), (2) Montoya et al., 2002 (m), (3) Le Bon et al., 2003 (h), (4) Spadaro et al., 2012 (h), (5) Parlato et al., 2001 (h), (2) Montoya et al., 2002 (m), (9) Dauer et al., 2003 (m), (10) Lucas et al., 2007 (m), (11) Havenar-Daughton et al., 2006 (m), (12) Le Bon et al., 2006 (m), (13) Brinkmann et al., 1993 (m), (14) Le Bon et al., 2006 (m), (16) Urban et al., 2016 (m), (17) Marshall et al., 2010 (m), (24) Curtsinger et al., 2014 (m), (19) Kolumam et al., 2005 (m), (20) Ramos et al., 2009 (m), (21) Thompson et al., 2006 (m), (22) Crouse et al., 2014 (m), (23) Xu et al., 2014 (m), (24) Curtsinger et al., 2005 (m), (22) Chang et al., 2007 (m), (27) Coro et al., 2006 (m), (28) Rau et al., 2009 (m), (29) Heer et al., 2007 (m), (30) Bach et al., 2007 (m), (31) Fink et al., 2006 (m), (32) Purtha et al., 2008 (m), (33) Martinez et al., 2008 (m), (34) Lucas et al., 2007 (m), (35) Hu et al., 2014 (h), (36) Hwang et al., 2012 (m), (37) Madera et al., 2016 (h).

by pDCs is severely suppressed during PRRSV infection (Baumann et al., 2013; Calzada-Nova et al., 2010). Furthermore, the pDCs activation, which is featured by the increase of CD80/86 expression and cell-type development, is not seen by PRRSV (Calzada-Nova et al., 2011). Since pDCs are not permissive for PRRSV (Calzada-Nova et al., 2011), the failure of pDC activation during PRRSV infection may be due to the lack of type I IFN production, suggesting a role of type I IFN for priming the adaptive response against PRRSV.

2.3. NK cells

2.3.1. Regulation of NK cell functions by type I IFNs

Type I IFNs enhance the survival and function of NK cells directly or indirectly in murine models and human cells (Fig. 1) (Paolini et al., 2015). NK cells kill virus-infected cells directly, or secret IFN- γ and promote other antiviral functions indirectly. In influenza virus-infected or vaccinia virus-infected mice, a deficient production of type I IFNs results in the reduced activation of NK cells, reduced cytolytic effector expressions, and reduced IFN- γ secretion (Hwang et al., 2012; Martinez et al., 2008). Such phenomena are also observed in LCMV-infected mice where type I IFN promotes IFN-y secretion in NK cells through the STAT4dependent pathway. Furthermore, anti-LCMV activity of NK cells is also enhanced (Mack et al., 2011). The decision to stimulate cytolytic effectors expression or IFN- γ secretion is dependent on the balance of STAT1 and STAT4 after IFN signaling activation (Hwang et al., 2012). These NK cell activities can also be regulated by IL-15, which is an ISG product after IFN binding to IFNARs on DCs in mouse models (Lucas et al., 2007). In the TLR-stimulated mice, increased accumulation of NK cells is seen in the local lymph nodes. This activity is mediated via IFN-primed DCs to increase the IL-15 production (Lucas et al., 2007). An independent study shows that both pDCs and monocytes (MOs) indirectly stimulate NK cell activation through IFN- α secretion during human herpes simplex virus-1 (HSV-1) infection of PBMC (Vogel et al., 2014). Indeed, type I IFNs can promote the NK cell expansion during murine cytomegalovirus (MCMV) infection (Madera et al., 2016). A worth noting is that the IFN-induced intrinsic antiviral activity of NK cells is less of importance but NK cells respond to IFNs effectively. During MCMV infection, DCs respond to IFNs well by producing IL-15. While NK cells are less responsive to IFNs directly, these cells respond to IL-15 potently (Baranek et al., 2012). A long-term treatment of chronic hepatitis C patients with IFN- α enhances the cytotoxicity of NK cells and results in the decrease of viral RNA in the serum of the patients (Hu et al., 2014). This indicates that IFN- α can fine-tune the NK cell activity through regulating the balance between activation and inhibition to suppress the chronic infection.

2.3.2. Porcine NK cell response to PRRSV infection

Nature killer (NK) cell is an additional arm important in the antiviral innate immune defense. NK cells nonspecifically target virus-infected cells by recognizing "altered-self antigen" characterized by reduced MHC-I expression (Gerner et al., 2009). The NK cell response to PRRSV infection has been reviewed elsewhere (Lunney et al., 2016), and here we will only discuss the negative regulation of NK cell function by PRRSV. The cytotoxic function of NK cells is reduced in PRRSV-infected pigs and the reduced function begins from 2 days after infection and lasts for three to four weeks (Dwivedi et al., 2011a; Renukaradhya et al., 2010). This phenomenon is common for the field isolates and modified-live vaccine (MLV), and also for differently administrated routes of infection (Albina et al., 1998a; Dwivedi et al., 2011b; Renukaradhya

et al., 2010). Notably, experimentally infected pigs show low levels of IFN- α . Even though there is no clear correlation between the low level of type I IFNs and the reduced cytotoxic activity of NK cells, NK cell function is directly regulated by type I IFNs along with other cytokines such as interleukin (IL)-12 and IL-15 (Nguyen et al., 2002).

2.4. T lymphocytes

2.4.1. Regulation of T cell functions by type I IFNs

In addition to modulating T cells through regulating DCs and cytokines release, type I IFNs can also regulate T cells directly through IFNARs on the surface of T cells. Type I IFNs modulate the survival, proliferation, IFN- γ secretion, cytotoxic function, and memory development of T cells (Fig. 1). T cells are divided to CD4+ and CD8+ cells. CD4+ T cells include T-helper 1 (Th1), T-helper 2 (Th2), follicular T-helper (Tfh), and regulatory T (Treg) cells. Each population has a distinct function in the adaptive immune system. All of these commitment of CD4+ T cells make up the crucial role of T cells in the adaptive immunity (Zhu and Paul, 2008). Type I IFNs stimulate CD4+ T cells undergoing clonal expansion during LCMV infection in mice (Havenar-Daughton et al., 2006). CD4+ T cells primed by type I IFNs increases the ability of T cells to help B cells to secrete antibodies (Le Bon et al., 2006b). IFN- α increases the ratio of Th1 cells secreting IFN- γ and inhibits the suppressive effect of IL-4 on IFN- γ production in those cells (Brinkmann et al., 1993). After completing their roles, activated CD4+ T cells undergo either memory or apoptosis. In case of virus infection, IFNs- α/β maintains activated CD4+ T cells live longer and perform their antiviral functions (Marrack et al., 1999). In pigs infected with PRRSV, IL-4 is upregulated at 2 days post-infection (Dwivedi et al., 2012). However, IL-4 does not promote the B cell development in PRRSV-infected pigs and instead suppresses the antibody and IL-6 secretion (Murtaugh et al., 2009). It seems that porcine IL-13 takes over the role of IL-4 in pigs and drives the maturation of monocytederived DCs (Bautista et al., 2007). The role of porcine IL-13 in priming B cells is unknown for pigs. This observation leads to a cautious interpretation of immunological data for different animal species.

Studies have focused on the interaction of CD8+T cells and type I IFNs because these cells lyse virus-infected cells. Type I IFNs regulate CD8+ T cells for their survival, clonal expansion, cytotoxic activity, IFN- γ secretion, and memory cell differentiation (Fig. 1). The ability of type I IFNs to upregulate the survival and clonal expansion of CD8+ T cells has been studied for different viruses. During LCMV and vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) infections in mice, type I IFNs contribute to the activation and longer survival of CD8+T cells and a larger number of clonal expansion (Aichele et al., 2006; Curtsinger et al., 2005; Keppler et al., 2012; Kolumam et al., 2005; Le Bon et al., 2006a, 2003; Marrack et al., 1999; Urban et al., 2016). For West Nile virus (WNV) infection, type I IFNs also promote the maturation of CD8+ T cells (Pinto et al., 2011). Additional studies unveil that type I IFNs can enhance the cytotoxicity of CD8+ T cells in mice (Agarwal et al., 2009; Curtsinger et al., 2005; Jennings et al., 2014; Marshall et al., 2010). Interestingly, type I IFNs have both positive and negative effects on IFN- γ secretion by CD8+ T cells for different viruses (Cousens et al., 1999; Nguyen et al., 2000, 2002). Such differences are resulted from the balance between the levels of STAT1 and STAT4. Besides effector CD8+ T cells, memory CD8+ T cells are also regulated by type I IFNs. Type I IFNs promote the differentiation of memory CD8+ T cells via affecting the initial clonal expansion during virus infection (Kolumam et al., 2005; Ramos et al., 2009; Thompson et al., 2006). Reactivation of memory CD8+ T cells to effector CD8+ T cells is dependent on the presence of type I IFNs (Kohlmeier et al., 2010; Martinet et al., 2015; Soudja et al., 2012).

Furthermore, type I IFNs can also protect T cells from killing by NK cell by expressing NCR1 (natural cytotoxicity triggering receptor 1; CD335) which is the negative signal for NK cells (Crouse et al., 2014; Xu et al., 2014).

2.4.2. Porcine T cell response to PRRSV infection

The T cell response in pigs to PRRSV is crucial for specific anti-PRRSV activities directly or indirectly. CD4+ T helper 1 (Th1) cells can become memory T cells or improve the killing efficacy of macrophages and the proliferation of CD8+ T cells by secreting IL-2 and IFN-y. In contrast, CD4+ T helper 2 (Th2) cells can promote the maturation of B cells to plasma B cells and enhance the ability to secrete PRRSV-specific neutralizing antibodies. Alternatively, CD4+ Th2 cells can stimulate B cells to become memory B cells. Cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) cause the death of infected cells specifically and directly. The T cell response of pigs during PRRSV infection is reviewed elsewhere (Loving et al., 2015). During infection, the number of CD4+ T cells decreases quickly in 3-7 days and then returns to normal by 7-14 day of infection (Nielsen and Bøtner, 1997; Shimizu et al., 1996). The number of CD4+ T cells is also limited in the lungs of infected pigs (Tingstedt and Nielsen, 2004). In addition, PRRSV-specific IFN- γ secreting T cells are low at all ages of pigs (Klinge et al., 2009). Such abnormal responses of CD4+ T cell in the host suggest that during PRRSV infection, the normal function of CD4+ T cells is interfered by the virus via indirect mechanisms. A large number of CD4+/CD8+ T cells are seen in pigs and these cells can be recruited to the sites of proliferation (Zuckermann and Husmann, 1996). The role of CD8+ T cells in clearing PRRSV persisting in the tonsils is unknown. In contrast to the crippled CD4+ T cell proliferation, regulatory T (Treg) cells which halt the activity of effector T cells (CD4+T cells and CD8+T cells) by producing TGF- β are significantly increased by PRRSV infection (Silva-Campa et al., 2012). The upregulation of IL-10 production by PRRSV also contributes to the Treg cell proliferation (Song et al., 2013; Suradhat et al., 2003).

2.5. B lymphocytes

2.5.1. Regulation of B cell functions by type I IFNs

The B cell-mediated antibody response is an important mechanism of host to eliminate invading viruses. Circulating neutralizing antibodies can potently clear the virus, and the antibody production by B cells is also modulated by type I IFNs (Fig. 1). During influenza virus infection of mice, IFNAR on B cells is necessary for B cell activation, suggesting the role of IFNs for B cell activation in response to influenza virus infection (Chang et al., 2007; Coro et al., 2006; Rau et al., 2009). Type I IFNs also modulate the isotype switching from IgG1 to IgG2a/c in influenza-specific B cells (Heer et al., 2007). Other reports also show the regulation of type I IFNs on B cell activation, antibody secretion, and isotype switching during viral infections, suggesting that type I IFNs regulate the B cells activity generally and deeply in mice (Bach et al., 2007; Fink et al., 2006; Purtha et al., 2008).

2.5.2. Porcine B cell response to PRRSV infection

The poor and delayed B cell-mediated specific antibody response is one of the major obstacles to control PRRSV in pigs. Even though PRRSV-specific antibody appears at early times of 7–9 day post-infection, the efficacy of these antibodies is unclear. Neutralizing antibodies against PRRSV takes a longer time to develop and appears nearly 1 month after initial infection (Labarque et al., 2000; Loving et al., 2015). The role of neutralizing antibodies for protection has been shown by serum transfer experiments, in which the pigs receiving passively transferred neutralizing antibodies are protected from PRRSV infection. However, the passive transfer of PRRSV-specific antibodies does

not confer a full protection against homologous challenge, indicating the PRRSV-specific antibodies do not completely block the infection, and a higher dose of neutralizing antibodies is required for better protection (Lopez et al., 2007; Osorio et al., 2002). The antigenic heterogeneity of PRRSV is an additional challenge for neutralizing antibodies to elicit efficient protection since the neutralizing activity of these antibodies is restricted to the homologous virus (Vu et al., 2011; Zhou et al., 2012).

3. PRRSV proteins and their roles in modulating type I IFN response

Suppression of type I IFN production and signaling is one of the major characteristics of PRRSV, which is a tremendous benefit for the virus to survive in the host. PRRSV has evolved to take several strategies to gain such benefits, and the IFN suppression is polygenic, which is executed by multiple viral proteins (Fig. 2). The viral proteins and their mechanisms of actions to suppress type I IFNs have been identified and reviewed elsewhere (Han and Yoo, 2014; Sun et al., 2012a; Yoo et al., 2010). Here, we briefly discuss the multiple ways that PRRSV modulates such functions. So far, five nonstructural proteins (nsp1 α , nsp1 β , nsp2, nsp4, and nsp11) and one structural protein (N) have been identified as IFN antagonists (Fig. 2) (Beura et al., 2010; Chen et al., 2010; Patel et al., 2010; Sagong and Lee, 2011; Song et al., 2010; Subramaniam et al., 2010; Sun et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2013; Yoo et al., 2010).

3.1. Nsp1 as a negative regulator for type I IFN production

3.1.1. Nsp1α

Among the PRRSV proteins regulating type I IFN response, nsp1 (both nsp1 α subunit and nsp1 β subunit) is the most potent IFN

antagonist. Nsp1 is the first viral protein synthesized and released from the polyprotein during infection. The PLP1 α activity resides in the N-terminal portion of nsp1 and its catalytic resides are mapped to C76 and H146. This activity cleaves off the nsp1 α subunit and releases it from pp1a (Fig. 2) (Den Boon et al., 1995). The cleavage site by PLP1 α is mapped to M180/A181 and confirmed by two independent studies using peptide sequencing and X-ray crystallographic study (Chen et al., 2010; Sun et al., 2009). At the most N-terminal region of nsp1 α , a zinc-finger motif (ZF1) of C8-C10-C25-C28 is identified, and this motif together with PLP1 α determines the transactivation of viral subgenomic mRNA synthesis (Kroese et al., 2008; Tijms et al., 2007, 2001; Tijms and Snijder, 2003). A second zinc-finger motif (ZF2) of C70-C76-H146-M180 has been identified in the C-terminal portion of nsp1 α (Sun et al., 2009). The function of ZF2 remains unknown.

Studies have unveiled the nsp1 α -mediated suppression of type I IFN response in cells (Beura et al., 2010; Chen et al., 2010; Kim et al., 2010). Similar to EAV nsp1 (note: EAV nsp1 remains uncleaved), PRRSV nsp1 α is distributed in the both nucleus and cytoplasm (Tijms et al., 2002; Yoo et al., 2010). Despite that PRRSV nsp1 is a nuclear cytoplasmic protein, no specific nuclear localization signal (NLS) is found in $nsp1\alpha$, suggesting that it may enter the nucleus by binding to a cellular nuclear protein. The nuclear localization of $nsp1\alpha$ suggests that the nuclear form of $nsp1\alpha$ may play a regulatory role for host gene expression. Subsequently, $nsp1\alpha$ and $nsp1\beta$ are found to inhibit type I IFN production and impair the IFN promoter activity when stimulated by a dsRNA analogues (polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid; poly I:C) (Chen et al., 2010). The phosphorylation and nuclear translocation of IRF3 remain unchanged, indicating that $nsp1\alpha$ does not directly inhibit IRF3 function but inhibits the IFN production in the nucleus by blocking other components crucial for IRF3-mediated IFN expression. Subsequently, $nsp1\alpha$ has been found to trigger CBP



Fig. 2. Functional motifs and domains identified in the nsp1α, nsp1β, nsp2, nsp4, nsp11, and N proteins of PRRSV. Amino acids are presented in single letters. Numbers indicate amino acid positions. ZF1, zinc finger domain of C8-C10-C25-C28; ZF2, zinc-finger domain of C70-C76-H146-M180; PLP1α, papain-like protease domain of C76-H146; PLP1β, papain-like protease domain of C90-H159; HV, hyper-variable region; TM, transmembrane domain; Cr, cysteine-rich domain; NLS, nuclear localization signal; NoLS, nuclear localization signal; NendoU, nidovirus-specific endoribonuclease; C23 of N, residue for homodimerization; Vertical arrows indicate the cleavage sites specific for PLP1α of nsp1α, PLP1β of nsp11α, PLP1β of nsp14.



Fig. 3. Coding strategy of the PRRSV genome and type I IFN viral antagonists encoded by PRRSV. Viral IFN antagonists are indicated in magenta for nsp1 α , red for nsp1b, light green for nsp2, yellow for nsp11, and purple for N. Vertical arrows indicate the specific cleavage sites for polyprotein processing. Colors match with respective proteinases and cleavage sites. IFN antagonistic functions are illustrated for individual viral proteins. (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

degradation through the proteasome-dependent pathway (Fig. 3) (Han et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2010). The proteinase activity of PLP1 α in $nsp1\alpha$ is no longer active, once is cleaved and released, due to the conformational change (Sun et al., 2009). Thus, the PLP1 α activity does not seems to participate in the CBP degradation. The precise mechanism for CBP degradation by $nsp1\alpha$ is currently unknown. Recently, $nsp1\alpha$ of PRRSV has been reported to physically bind to CBP (Chen et al., 2016), which may explain a possible mechanism of $nsp1\alpha$ -mediated CBP degradation. In that study, a nuclear export signal (NES) has been identified in $nsp1\alpha$ and mapped to amino acids positions 29 to 49 (Fig. 2). The NES is crucial for nsp1 α -mediated type I IFNs suppression. As discussed above, CBP-mediated enhanceosome formation is critical for both IRF3/7-mediated and NF-kB-mediated IFN productions (Panne et al., 2007). Without CBP, phosphorylated IRF3 in the nucleus does not stably activate IFN production. Interestingly, PRRSV nsp1a triggers the swine leukocyte antigen class I (SLA-I) degradation in a ubiquitin-proteasome dependent manner and this action is mediated by direct binding of $nsp1\alpha$ with both chains of SLA-I (Du et al., 2016). The fact that $nsp1\alpha$ binds to CBP and both chains of SLA-I and thus leading to degradation of CBP and SLA-1 provides new insights into a possibility that $nsp1\alpha$ may possess an ubiquitin E3 ligase-like activity. Such studies are under way.

PRRSV nsp1α also suppresses the NF-κB activation when stimulated by either poly(I:C) or TNF-α (Song et al., 2010; Subramaniam et al., 2010). This suppression is RIG-I dependent. In addition to PRD I/III in the IFN-β promoter for IRF3/7 binding, PRD II and PRD IV are specific for the binding of NF-κB and AP-1, respectively, to activate type I IFN production. The PRD II-specific reporter activity is significantly suppressed by nsp1α upon stimulation (Han et al., 2013). The CBP degradation may also interfere the NF-κB function as a type I IFN inducer in the nucleus. Additionally, nsp1α blocks the phosphorylation and nuclear translocation of NF-κB, suggesting that the cytoplasmic form of nsp1α may regulate the host response (Kim et al., 2010). Thus, nsp1α is a multifunctional protein such that the nuclear form of nsp1α degrades CBP whereas the cytoplasmic form of nsp1α blocks the NF- κ B nuclear translocation and activation, making nsp1 α as the potent IFN antagonist.

3.1.2. Nsp1β

As with $nsp1\alpha$, $nsp1\beta$ also possesses a proteinase activity $(PLP1\beta)$ and the catalytic residues for PLP1 β have been mapped to C90-H159. The PLP1B activity is responsible for the cleavage of nsp1β from nsp2 (Fig. 2) (Den Boon et al., 1995; Snijder et al., 1992; Ziebuhr et al., 2000). Thus, the release of $nsp1\beta$ is dependent on the activities of PLP1 α and PLP1 β . PLP1 α cleaves off nsp1 α at M180/A181 of pp1a, and then PLP1 β cleaves off nsp1 β at Y382/ G383 (Chen et al., 2010). The cleavage sites for PLP1 α and PLP1 β are highly conserved among different PRRSV isolates. PRRSV whose PLP1 β active sites are mutated is non-viable, indicating that PLP1 β is essential for virus replication (Kroese et al., 2008). The PLP1 β activity in nsp1 β also regulates the generation of nsp2TF via -1/2ribosomal-frameshifting (Fang et al., 2012; Li et al., 2016). A nuclease motif has been identified at K18-E32 in the N-terminal region of nsp1 β (Xue et al., 2010), but this motif is irrelevant to IFN suppression (Han et al., 2014).

Although PLP1B loses its activity once cleaving and releasing nsp1ß from nsp2 (Sun et al., 2009), it still plays crucial roles in nsp2TF gene expression, type I IFNs suppression, and viral replication. The highly conserved motif in PLP1B plays a critical role in IFN suppression by $nsp1\beta$ when stimulated with Sendai virus (Li et al., 2013). PRRSV in which mutations are introduced in the conserved motif of PLP1 β exhibits attenuated growth, and the suppression of type I IFNs is less potent (Li et al., 2016, 2013). Several studies show that $nsp1\beta$ suppresses type I IFN production (Chen et al., 2010; Han and Yoo, 2014; Patel et al., 2010). The precise mechanism for nsp1β-mediated IFN suppression remains unclear. A study shows that modified $nsp1\beta$, of which 26 amino acids derived from nsp1 α are extended at its N-terminus impairs the IRF3 phosphorylation and nuclear translocation (Beura et al., 2010). Whether these 26 amino acids derived from the Cterminus of nsp1 α contribute to this activity is unclear. Like $nsp1\alpha$, $nsp1\beta$ is also distributed in the nucleus, indicating that nsp1β-mediated IFN suppression is a nuclear event. It is interesting to note that, although the PLP1B proteinase activity becomes inactive once $nsp1\beta$ is cleaved, the conserved motif for PLP1B is still a major determinant for nsp1B-mediated IFN suppression. A worth noting is the nuclease activity of nsp1β. Considering the nuclease activity and nuclear distribution of nsp1 β , it is presumed that nsp1 β may digest the nucleic acids in the nucleus. In addition, $nsp1\beta$ interrupts the phosphorylation of STAT1 and nuclear translocation of ISGF3, thus leading to the inhibition of JAK-STAT signaling pathway resulting in the inhibition of ISG expressions (Chen et al., 2010; Patel et al., 2010). Nsp1 β blocks the ISGF3 nuclear translocation by degrading karyopherin- $\alpha 1$ (KPNA1) (Wang et al., 2013b), which is at least one possible mechanism for nsp1B-mediate ISGs inhibition (Fig. 3). The compensatory activities of $nsp1\alpha$ (for suppression of IFN production) and nsp1 β (for suppression of IFN production and JAK-STAT signaling) make the nsp1 protein the most potent type I IFN antagonist of PRRSV. Recent findings from our laboratory show that $nsp1\beta$ suppresses the host mRNA export from the nucleus to the cytoplasm. The host mRNA nuclear retention is correlated with the IFN suppression of nsp1_B. A SAP (SAF-A/B, Acinus, and PIAS) motif is found in nsp1ß with the consensus sequence of 126-LQxxLxxxGL-135 residing in the PLP1B domain, and this motif is responsible for the host mRNA nuclear retention and IFN suppression (Han et al., 2017). The SAP-negative mutant PRRSV is attenuated for viral replication in vitro and for virulence in vivo. These findings explicit a specific mechanism of IFN suppression by $nsp1\beta$ and implies the importance of IFN suppression for viral pathogenesis.

3.2. Nsp2

Nsp2 is the largest protein of PRRSV and five major domains have been identified: 1) hyper-variable region 1 (HV1) at the Nterminal region, 2) papain-like cysteine protease 2 (PLP2) which belongs to the ovarian tumor (OTU) protease family at the Nterminal region, 3) very large hyper-variable region 2 (HV2) in the middle, 4) hydrophobic transmembrane region (TM) near the Cterminus, and 5) a cysteine-rich domain close to the end of nsp2 (Fang et al., 2012; Han et al., 2007) (Fig. 2). The HV1 and HV2 regions in nsp2 account for the major genetic diversity of PRRSV (Music and Gagnon, 2010), and they are the key determinants for differentiation between genotypes 1 and 2 (Fang et al., 2004; Han et al., 2006). Mutations, insertions, and deletions are frequent in HV1 and HV2, whereas other regions in nsp2 are relatively conserved (Fang et al., 2004; Han et al., 2006; Music and Gagnon, 2010). The TM domain is involved in the membrane modification and the formation of a replication complex for PRRSV (Fang and Snijder, 2010). Thus, nsp2 plays an important role in the regulation of PRRSV replication (Wang et al., 2013a, 2012).

The PLP2 activity in nsp2 contributes to inhibiting the IRF3 phosphorylation and nuclear translocation and suppresses the type I IFN production (Li et al., 2010). The PLP2 domain belongs to the ovarian tumor (OTU) protease family which contains the deubiquitination (DUB) and de-ISGylation activities (Frias-Staheli et al., 2007). Ubiquitination and ISGylation are important post-translational modifications involved in the RIG-I and TLRs signaling pathways, and the OTU domain interferes them to antagonize type I IFN production. PRRSV nsp2 also inhibits the I κ B phosphorylation and degradation when stimulated with TNF- α , resulting in the suppression of NF- κ B activation (Sun et al., 2010). In addition to de-ubiquitination, the OTU domain also plays a role to inhibit ISG15 production and ISG15-mediated ISGylation (Fig. 3) (Sun et al., 2012b). Thus, the ISGylation activity of nsp2 interferes with the IFN production and signaling pathways.

3.3. Nsp4

The nsp4 protein of PRRSV is the 3C-like serine proteinase (SP) responsible for cleaving the nonstructural proteins from pp1a and pp1ab, except nsp1 α , nsp1 β , nsp2 (Snijder et al., 1996). Structural studies unveil three domains in nsp4: domain I (aa 1-aa 69), domain II (aa 89-aa 153), and domain III (aa 157-aa 199) (Tian et al., 2009). The SP activity of nsp4 is located between domain I and domain II and the residues of S118. H39. and D64 constitute the canonical catalytic triad (Tian et al., 2009). Interestingly, a nuclear localization signal (NLS) site is found at positions 154–156 which also serves the hinge between domain II and domain III (Tian et al., 2009). Whether the NLS in nsp4 is functional or not is unclear but it may involve in inhibiting the IFN- β transcription because the residue at 155 (a middle amino acid of the three-residues for NLS) is crucial for nsp4 to suppress type I IFNs response when induced with poly(I:C) (Chen et al., 2014). The nsp4-mediated IFN- β inhibition is NF-KB dependent. The activation of NF-KB is significantly suppressed by nsp4 when stimulated by RIG-I, VISA, TRIF, as well as IKKβ, suggesting that nsp4 interferes with the NFκB signaling downstream of these molecules. The SP activity of nsp4 is responsible for suppressing IFN- β and NF- κ B as shown by mutational studies in domains I and domain II which specifically knock-out the SP activity. Nsp4 appears to cleave NEMO at E349-S350, which is a key regulator for NF-κB signaling (Huang et al., 2014). In addition to the NF-kB suppression and thus NF-kBmediated IFN suppression, nsp4 also cleaves VISA which is an essential adaptor in the RLR-mediated IFN pathway (Huang et al., 2016).

3.4. Nsp11

Nsp11 of PRRSV has the endoribonuclease activity and is a component of the RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp) complex for viral RNA synthesis (Fang and Snijder, 2010; Snijder et al., 2013). The endoribonuclease activity of nsp11 is conserved and unique for viruses in the order Nidovirales, designating this domain "NendoU" expanding from L126 to F204 (Fig. 2). The NendoU domain is relative to the XendoU family of Xenopus laevis (Gorbalenya et al., 2006; Ivanov et al., 2004; Laneve et al., 2003). As shown in Fig. 2, the NendoU domain resides near the C-terminus of nsp11 consisting of two subdomains; subdomain A and subdomain B (Posthuma et al., 2006; Shi et al., 2016). Subdomain A contains the nuclease activity of NendoU, and subdomain B serves as a conformational supporter (Shi et al., 2016). Similar to the coronavirus NendoU residing in nsp15 (Bhardwaj et al., 2004; Ivanov et al., 2004), PRRSV NendoU in nsp11 has the uridylatespecific RNA cleaving activity. Dissimilar to coronavirus nsp15, which forms a hexametric structure to achieve optimal enzyme activities (Xu et al., 2006), PRRSV nsp11 exists as a homodimer and elicits the nuclease activity (Shi et al., 2016). While two His residues form an "active site loop" and Val-Thr residues form a "supporting loop" in the NendoU, nsp11 NendoU of PRRSV and nsp15 NendoU of coronavirus are similar enough to be superimposed (Bhardwaj et al., 2004; Ricagno et al., 2006; Snijder et al., 2003; Xu et al., 2006). The importance of NendoU activity in viral RNA synthesis and virus replication has been shown for EAV and SARS-CoV (Nedialkova et al., 2009; Posthuma et al., 2006).

PRRSV nsp11 is an IFN antagonist and the endoribonuclease activity is critical for IFN suppression when stimulated by poly(I:C) (Shi et al., 2011). PRRSV nsp11 blocks the phosphorylation and nuclear translocation of IRF3, resulting in the inhibition of IRF3mediated IFN production. PRRSV nsp11 also suppresses the phosphorylation of I κ B, and thus activation of NF- κ B is suppressed (Sun et al., 2016, 2014). Inhibition of the two pathways leads to IFN suppression. Interestingly, PRRSV nsp11 appears to target MAVS (IPS-1) and degrades MARV mRNA (Sun et al., 2016). The IRF3 signaling pathway and NF- κ B signaling pathway converge at MAVS, and thus MAVS is a crucial adaptor for both signaling pathways. The degradation of MAVS mRNA by PRRSV nsp11 results in the failure of activation of downstream pathways. The nsp11 mutants which specifically lose the NendoU activity do not suppress IFN production, further indicating that the NendoU activity of PRRSV nsp11 is responsible for suppression of type I IFN production (Sun et al., 2012a, 2016).

3.5. Nucleocapsid (N) protein

The nucleocapsid (N) protein of PRRSV is a relatively small protein encoded by ORF7 of the viral genome. N is consisted of 123 amino acids for genotype 2 and of 128 amino acids for genotype 1. In PRRSV-infected cells, N is abundantly expressed to benefit from the discontinuous transcription mechanism (Snijder et al., 2013). The N protein binds to the genomic RNA through its N-terminal region containing positively charged residues (Dokland, 2010). Binding to RNA is one of the major functions of N to form a viral capsid and to protect the viral genome. N is the only protein that forms the viral capsid. The N protein exists as a homodimer through covalent and non-covalent interactions using C23 (Fig. 2) (Wootton and Yoo, 2003). PRRSV of which C23 is mutated loses its infectivity, indicating that the N protein homo-dimerization is critical for virus replication and infectivity (Lee et al., 2005). N is a phosphoprotein and the phosphorylation may be related to RNA binding and/or the dimerization of N even though its exact function remains unknown (Wootton et al., 2002). PRRSV replication occurs in the cytoplasm (Benfield et al., 1992; Mardassi et al., 1994), and thus the cytoplasmic distribution of N fulfills its function to support the particle assembly and replication. In addition it its cytoplasmic distribution, PRRSV N is also distributed in the nucleus and nucleolus in virus-infected PAMs and MARC-145 cells (Rowland et al., 1999). Two NLS sequences are found in the Nterminal half of the N protein and designated NLS-1 at residues 10-13 and NSL-2 at residues 41-47 (Fig. 2) (Rowland et al., 1999; Rowland et al., 2003b). NLS-1 seems non-essential for N protein nuclear translocation, whereas NSL2 is a functional motif. A single amino acid change in the conserved motif of 41_PGKKNKK_47 for NLS-2 results in the blocking of N to nuclear translocation. (Rowland et al., 1999, 2003b; Rowland and Yoo, 2003). Further studies have unveiled that importin- α and importin- β are the cellular proteins responsible for transporting N to the nucleus (Rowland et al., 2003b; Rowland and Yoo, 2003). A NoLS sequence is mapped to residues 41-72 of N (Fig. 2) (Rowland et al., 2003b; Yoo et al., 2003). The function of N in the nucleolus is not very clear thus far. Several cellular proteins appear to interact with N, including fibrillarin (Yoo et al., 2003), I-mfa domain containing protein (HIC) (Song et al., 2009), protein inhibitor of activated STAT1 (PIAS1), nucleolin, B23, poly-A binding protein (Yoo et al., 2010), importin- α and $-\beta$, and exportin (Rowland et al., 2003b). Limited studies show that N protein delays the cell cycle progression and utilizes the cellular machinery for productive infection especially during the early stage of infection.

The list of cellular proteins interacting with N suggests the modulation of host cell functions through their interactions. In studies using NLS-2 knock-out mutant PRRSV, pigs develop a significantly shorter duration of viremia and higher neutralizing antibodies than those of wild-type PRRSV-infected pigs (Lee et al., 2006a,b). This observation suggests that the nuclear localization of N determines the PRRSV pathogenesis and NLS-2 is non-essential for PRRSV replication in vitro (Lee et al., 2006a,b). Overall, NLS-2 is correlated to the virulence of PRRSV and the mutations in NLS-2 confer the attenuation of virus in pigs.

Further studies show that PRRSV N suppresses the type I IFN production by inhibiting the IRF3 phosphorylation and nuclear translocation (Fig. 3) (Sagong and Lee, 2011). IL-10 functions as a negative regulator for host innate and adaptive responses (Couper et al., 2008), and PRRSV increases the IL-10 level in pigs (Suradhat and Thanawongnuwech, 2003; Suradhat et al., 2003; Thanawongnuwech and Thacker, 2003). The upregulation of IL-10 results in the suppression of the innate and adaptive immune responses in pigs. Subsequently, N has been identified as the protein upregulating IL-10 in PAMs (Wongyanin et al., 2012). The upregulation of IL-10 by N suggests that N activates NF-KB signaling pathway which tightly regulates the production of IL-10 (Saraiva and O'Garra, 2010). Indeed, the N protein has been shown to activate the NF-KB signaling and increases the expression of proinflammatory cytokines (Fu et al., 2012; Luo et al., 2008). The upregulation of proinflammatory cytokines are associated with PRRSV pathogenesis in pigs (Lunney et al., 2010; Van Reeth et al., 1999, 2002). Together, these findings indicate that PRRSV N, especially the nuclear form of N distributed in the nucleus, regulates the pathogenesis of PRRSV.

4. Alternative approaches to PRRS vaccines

The current vaccines for PRRS elicit protective immunity to some extent but the protection works only against homologous infections and is partial for heterologous infections. Even though PRRSV-specific neutralizing antibodies can protect pigs from homologous challenges to a certain level, higher titers of antibodies are required for complete protection (Lopez et al., 2007). Additional problems associated with existing vaccines include viral persistence and possible reversion to virulence. Incomplete protection against field viruses (heterologous PRRSV) makes current vaccines less valuable in the field (Kimman et al., 2009). Aberrant and delayed cell-mediated immune responses make hard to clear the virus persistently residing in the lymphoid tissues and even harder to control the transmission from persistently infected pigs to naive pigs. Thus, a vaccine that can improve the host anti-viral immune response including the innate immunity, CD4+ T cells, CTLs, and B cells will be of a significant benefit. Immunological hallmarks of PRRS are that the innate immunity (namely type I IFNs) is suppressed and the adaptive immunity is perturbed and delayed. Since type I IFNs prime the proliferation and maturation of adaptive immune responses, it is tempting to speculate that the disturbed and delayed adaptive immune responses against PRRSV is due to the suppression of type I IFNs response in host by PRRSV. A replication-competent recombinant PRRSV co-expressing various type I IFNs increases the IFN levels in pigs and elicits protection against PRRSV, but no significant PRRSV-specific adaptive immune responses are observed in this study (Sang et al., 2014b, 2012). Different observations have been made for an increased and prolonged adaptive immune response when using the porcine IFN- α expressing plasmid as an adjuvant for PRRSV vaccination (Meier et al., 2004). This suggests that the timing and routes to deliver IFNs and how long it will last in animals make a difference in priming the adaptive immune response against PRRSV infection. Studies by Brockmeier et al. (2009, 2012) show the protective role of IFN- α in pigs. In these studies, IFN- α was expressed in vivo by adenovirus-mediated gene delivery. Following virulent challenges with PRRSV, the pigs showed delayed viremia and enhanced PRRSV-specific cell-mediated immune response. These results indicate that a higher level and sustained production of IFNs for an extended period is critical for the control of PRRSV in pigs. During PRRSV infection, a swift response of type I IFNs is observed which may reach a relatively high level of IFN (Albina et al., 1998a,b; unpublished data from our laboratory). However, this response is only transient and the IFN levels drop quickly as the infection progresses. One of the reasons for this decrease may be due to the potent viral IFN antagonism. Other than exogenous administration of IFNs, promoting endogenous IFNs is also thought to function better to prime the adaptive immune responses. Indeed, the induction of IFN production in vivo has resulted in the increase of adaptive immune responses (Wang et al., 2013c).

Nsp1^β inhibits both type I IFN production and signaling potently (Beura et al., 2010; Chen et al., 2010; Patel et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2013b). As discussed above, the conserved sequence motif of $_{123}$ -GKYLQRRLQ $_{-131}$ in PLP1 β plays a critical role in the both IFN suppression and programming -2/-1 ribosomal frame shifting (Li et al., 2013). Single or double mutations in this motif (R128A, R129A, or RR128/129AA) impair the suppressive activity of nsp1β. Furthermore, PRRSV containing such mutations is attenuated for growth in cells. Pigs infected with the mutant PRRSV have shown lower levels of viremia, higher levels of IFN- α as well as ISGs comparing to pigs infected with wild-type PRRSV (Li et al., 2016). The NK cell function has also been increased, correlating with an increased level of IFN- α in the lungs of pigs infected with mutant virus. Furthermore, the IFN- γ level is also significantly higher in pigs infected with mutant virus. This study nicely demonstrates the role of type I IFNs playing in priming adaptive immune response and ultimate clearance of PRRSV in pigs. However, no direct evidence is available yet that such a mutant PRRSV can elicit protection from heterologous infection or reduced persistence. Such a study is cumbersome because of potential reversion to wildtype or compensatory mutations to restore the function during infection. This phenomenon has also been observed in our laboratory (unpublished data), suggesting the strong selective pressure on the viral IFN antagonism and the favor of IFN suppression for PRRSV replication in pigs. A recent study shows that the deficiency of type I IFN receptor in DCs makes the nonpersistent murine norovirus (strain CW3) to systemically persist in mice (Nice et al., 2016). Surprisingly, during the persistent infection of the norovirus, CD8+ T cell function and antibody response are increased, suggesting that the deficiency of IFN responses is the determinant, leading to the virus to persistence in spite of the enhanced adaptive immunity. This finding correlates type I IFNs with viral persistence for the first time, further demonstrating the importance of type I IFNs for inhibition of virus infection either acutely or persistently. Thus, the removal of IFN antagonism from PRRSV seems a reasonable strategy to develop a novel vaccine candidate. Such strategy has been successful for some RNA viruses. Hepatitis C virus (HCV) infects humans and establishes persistence in the liver. During HCV infection, type I IFN response is downregulated, which is mediated by the NS3/4A protease which cleaves MAVS (Li et al., 2005). The suppression of IFN response may be one of the causes for HCV persistence, and the IFN treatment is most effective therapy to control the persistent HCV infection (Manns et al., 2001; Radkowski et al., 2005; Shiffman et al., 1999). In contrast, recent studies show that the LCMV persistence in mice is controlled or lost when type I IFN signaling is blocked, demonstrating the paradoxical role of type I IFNs in viral persistence (Teijaro et al., 2013; Wilson et al., 2013). In these studies, an IFN receptor-neutralizing antibody has been used in mice to block the IFN signaling pathway, and in these animals, the activation of adaptive immunity is diminished and the mice regain the control of persistent infection. These findings demonstrate the dual functions of type I IFNs in virus-host interactions depending on the type of viruses and the species of hosts (for a review, see Snell and Brooks, 2015). Nevertheless, it is logical to hypothesize that a vaccine virus lacking the IFN suppressive function may be more immunogenic and provide improved protection against virulent challenge than the parental virus. Foot-and-mouth disease virus (FMDV) is able to suppress type I IFN production in cattle, and may persist in the tonsils for up to 2 years. N^{pro} is the major IFN antagonist of FMDV, and the mutation of N^{pro} to knock-out the IFN suppression confers viral attenuation in both cells and animals. The IFN antagonism-negative FMDV elicits strong neutralizing antibody response in vaccinated animals, and these animals are completely protected from high doses of wild-type challenge as early as 2 days post-challenge (Díaz-San Segundo et al., 2012). For influenza virus, the NS1 protein is a viral IFN antagonist, and a similar approach has been applied to swine influenza virus (SIV). The IFN suppressive function has been removed from the NS1 gene, and by reverse genetics, mutant SIV has been generated such that the NS1 protein of mutant SIV is no longer able to suppress type I IFN production. This IFN antagonism-negative SIV appears to be attenuated in pigs and is able to stimulate the production of type I IFNs. The mutant SIV grows well in cells and pigs, and its attenuation in pigs is correlated with higher levels of IFNs in vivo (Solórzano et al., 2005). Furthermore, the pigs immunized with the IFN-antagonism-negative SIV are protected from both homologous and heterologous challenges. Induction of heterologous protection by IFN-antagonism-negative virus has also been demonstrated for avian influenza (Marcus et al., 2010). A live attenuated influenza virus vaccine (LAIV) candidate has been isolated from a pool of NS1-truncated mutants, and this virus is able to stimulate a higher level of IFN production than wild-type virus. The avian influenza virus containing a truncated NS1 gene is clinically attenuated and also able to elicit a higher level of IFNs and adaptive immunity (Jang et al., 2016; Marcus et al., 2010; Ngunjiri et al., 2015). Such vaccine candidates induce a good level of protection from heterologous challenges in different species of animals (avian, mice, and pigs), making them alternative vaccine candidates. Equine arteritis virus (EAV) can persist in infected horses, and type I IFN production is suppressed during EAV infection. As discussed above, the nsp2 protein contains the deubiquitinase (DUB) activity in the PLP2 motif, which is responsible for the inhibition of innate immunity during infection. The DUB activity has been separated from PLP2 by mutation, and DUB-negative mutant EAV has been generated. When horses are vaccinated with the DUB-negative EAV, the animals elicit higher levels of IFNs and adaptive immune responses. Upon virulent challenge of these horses, the DUBnegative EAV vaccinated animals are protected at a similar degree as its DUB-positive parental virus (van Kasteren et al., 2015). Therefore, such a strategy is worth trying for PRRSV as an alternative approach to developing a new vaccine. Despite the lack of solid experimental evidence for PRRSV at the present time whether an increased level of type I IFN production will improve the protection from heterologous infection as well as persistence, this is a logical approach to the control of PRRSV, and such studies are in progress by several research groups. Once proven, it will warrant the benefits to elicit effective and protective anti-PRRSV immune responses by vaccination. Such vaccines will be a promising alternative to existing vaccines for PRRSV.

5. Conclusion

The hurdles in controlling PRRSV include viral suppression of innate immunity, delayed adaptive response of host, and antigenic heterogeneity of PRRSV. Poor innate immunity and slow developments of neutralizing antibodies and CTLs result in the failure of clearance of virus, leading to viral persistence in the lymphoid tissues (Zuniga et al., 2015). Type I IFNs are critical components for development and maturation of adaptive immunity, and PRRSV has a potent ability to suppress the type I IFNs production and signaling directly, and to modulate the adaptive immunity indirectly. A key to the successful development of a future vaccine for PRRS is the removal of IFN suppression function from PRRSV such that a replication-competent and IFN antagonism-negative

PRRSV can be generated by reverse genetics. Such virus is anticipated to be attenuated and warrants most effective protection not only from homologous infection but also from heterologous infection.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by Agriculture and Food Research Initiative (AFRI) Competitive Grant (No. 2013-67015-21243) from US Department of Agriculture (USDA)-National Institute of Food and Agriculture (NIFA), and USDA HATCH and Multistate Funds (ILLU-888-363).

References

- Agarwal, P., Raghavan, A., Nandiwada, S.L., Curtsinger, J.M., Bohjanen, P.R., Mueller, D.L., Mescher, M.F., 2009. Gene regulation and chromatin remodeling by IL-12 and type I IFN in programming for CD8 T cell effector function and memory. J. Immunol. 183, 1695–1704.
- Aichele, P., Unsoeld, H., Koschella, M., Schweier, O., Kalinke, U., Vucikuja, S., 2006. Cutting edge: CD8T cells specific for lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus require type I IFN receptor for clonal expansion. J. Immunol. 176, 4525–4529.
- Albina, E., Carrat, C., Charley, B., 1998a. Short communication: interferon-α response to swine arterivirus (PoAV), the porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. J. Interferon Cytokine Res. 18, 485–490.
- Albina, E., Piriou, L., Hutet, E., Cariolet, R., L'Hospitalier, R., 1998b. Immune responses in pigs infected with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV). Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol. 61, 49–66.
- Allende, R., Lewis, T.L., Lu, Z., Rock, D.L., Kutish, G.F., Ali, A., Doster, A.R., Osorio, F.A., 1999. North American and European porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome viruses differ in nonstructural protein coding regions. J. Gen. Virol. 80, 307–315.
- Allende, R., Laegreid, W.W., Kutish, G.F., Galeota, J.A., Wills, R.W., Osorio, F.A., 2000. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus: description of persistence in individual pigs upon experimental infection. J. Virol. 74, 10834– 10837.
- Bach, P., Kamphuis, E., Odermatt, B., Sutter, G., Buchholz, C.J., Kalinke, U., 2007. Vesicular stomatitis virus glycoprotein displaying retrovirus-like particles induce a type I IFN receptor-dependent switch to neutralizing IgG antibodies. J. Immunol. 178, 5839–5847.
- Baranek, T., Manh, T.P.V., Alexandre, Y., Maqbool, M.A., Cabeza, J.Z., Tomasello, E., Crozat, K., Bessou, G., Zucchini, N., Robbins, S.H., Vivier, E., 2012. Differential responses of immune cells to type I interferon contribute to host resistance to viral infection. Cell Host Microbes 12, 571–584.
- Baumann, A., Mateu, E., Murtaugh, M.P., Summerfield, A., 2013. Impact of genotype 1 and 2 of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome viruses on interferon-α responses by plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Vet. Res. 44, 33.
- Bautista, E.M., Nfon, C., Ferman, G.S., Golde, W.T., 2007. IL-13 replaces IL-4 in development of monocyte derived dendritic cells (MoDC) of swine. Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol. 115, 56–67.
- Benfield, D.A., Nelson, E., Collins, J.E., Harris, L., Goyal, S.M., Robison, D., Christianson, W.T., Morrison, R.B., Gorcyca, D., Chladek, D., 1992. Characterization of swine infertility and respiratory syndrome (SIRS) virus (isolate ATCC VR-2332). J. Vet. Diagn. Invest, 4, 127–133.
- Beura, L.K., Sarkar, S.N., Kwon, B., Subramaniam, S., Jones, C., Pattnaik, A.K., Osorio, F. A., 2010. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus nonstructural protein 1β modulates host innate immune response by antagonizing IRF3 activation. J. Virol. 84, 1574–1584.
- Beyer, J., Fichtner, D., Schirrmeir, H., Polster, U., Weiland, E., Wege, H., 2000. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV): kinetics of infection in lymphatic organs and lung. J. Vet. Med. Ser. B 47, 9–25.
 Bhardwaj, K., Guarino, L., Kao, C.C., 2004. The severe acute respiratory syndrome
- Bhardwaj, K., Guarino, L., Kao, C.C., 2004. The severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus nonstructural 15 protein is an endoribonuclease that prefers manganese as a cofactor. J. Virol. 78, 12218–12224.
- Brinkmann, V., Geiger, T., Alkan, S., Heusser, C.H., 1993. Interferon alpha increases the frequency of interferon gamma-producing human CD4+ T cells. J. Exp. Med. 178, 1655–1663.
- Brockmeier, S., Lager, K., Grubman, M., Brough, D., Ettyreddy, D., Sacco, R., Gauger, P., Loving, C., Vorwald, A., Kehrli Jr., M., 2009. Adenovirus-mediated expression of interferon-α delays viral replication and reduces disease signs in swine challenged with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. Viral Immunol. 22, 173–180.
- Brockmeier, S.L., Loving, C.L., Nelson, E.A., Miller, L.C., Nicholson, T.L., Register, K.B., Grubman, M.J., Brough, D.E., Kehrli, M.E., 2012. The presence of alpha interferon at the time of infection alters the innate and adaptive immune responses to porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. Clin. Vaccine Immunol. 19, 508–514.

- Buddaert, W., Van Reeth, K., Pensaert, M., 1998. In vivo and in vitro interferon (IFN) studies with the porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV). Coronaviruses and Arteriviruses. Springer, pp. 461–467.
- Caamano, J., Hunter, C.A., 2002. NF-κB family of transcription factors: central regulators of innate and adaptive immune functions. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 15, 414–429.
- Calzada-Nova, G., Schnitzlein, W., Husmann, R., Zuckermann, F.A., 2010. Characterization of the cytokine and maturation responses of pure populations of porcine plasmacytoid dendritic cells to porcine viruses and toll-like receptor agonists. Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol. 135, 20–33.
- Calzada-Nova, G., Schnitzlein, W.M., Husmann, R.J., Zuckermann, F.A., 2011. North American porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome viruses inhibit type I interferon production by plasmacytoid dendritic cells. J. Virol. 85, 2703–2713.
- Chand, R.J., Trible, B.R., Rowland, R.R., 2012. Pathogenesis of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. Curr. Opin. Virol. 2, 256–263.
- Chang, W.W., Coro, E.S., Rau, F.C., Xiao, Y., Erle, D.J., Baumgarth, N., 2007. Influenza virus infection causes global respiratory tract B cell response modulation via innate immune signals. J. Immunol. 178, 1457–1467.
- Chen, Z., Lawson, S., Sun, Z., Zhou, X., Guan, X., Christopher-Hennings, J., Nelson, E., Fang, Y., 2010. Identification of two auto-cleavage products of nonstructural protein 1 (nsp1) in porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus infected cells: nsp1 function as interferon antagonist. Virology 398, 87–97.
- Chen, Z., Li, M., He, Q., Du, J., Zhou, L., Ge, X., Guo, X., Yang, H., 2014. The amino acid at residue 155 in nonstructural protein 4 of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus contributes to its inhibitory effect for interferon-β transcription in vitro. Virus Res. 189, 226–234.
- Chen, Z., Liu, S., Sun, W., Chen, L., Yoo, D., Li, F., Ren, S., Guo, L., Cong, X., Li, J., Zhou, S., Wu, J., Du, Y., Wang, J., 2016. Nuclear export signal of PRRSV nonstructural protein 1α is necessary for type I IFN inhibition. Virology 499, 278–287.
- Coro, E.S., Chang, W.W., Baumgarth, N., 2006. Type I IFN receptor signals directly stimulate local B cells early following influenza virus infection. J. Immunol. 176, 4343–4351.
- Couper, K.N., Blount, D.G., Riley, E.M., 2008. IL-10: the master regulator of immunity to infection. J. Immunol. 180, 5771–5777.
- Cousens, L.P., Orange, J.S., Su, H.C., Biron, C.A., 1997. Interferon-α/β inhibition of interleukin 12 and interferon-γ production in vitro and endogenously during viral infection. Proc. Natl. Acad. Aci. Sci. U. S. A. 94, 634–639.
- Cousens, L.P., Peterson, R., Hsu, S., Dorner, A., Altman, J.D., Ahmed, R., Biron, C.A., 1999. Two roads diverged: interferon α/β -and interleukin 12-mediated pathways in promoting T cell interferon γ responses during viral infection. J. Exp. Med. 189, 1315–1328.
- Crouse, J., Bedenikovic, G., Wiesel, M., Ibberson, M., Xenarios, I., von Laer, D., Kalinke, U., Vivier, E., Jonjic, S., Oxenius, A., 2014. Type I interferons protect T cells against NK cell attack mediated by the activating receptor NCR1. Immunity 40, 961–973.
- Curtsinger, J.M., Valenzuela, J.O., Agarwal, P., Lins, D., Mescher, M.F., 2005. Cutting edge: type I IFNs provide a third signal to CD8T cells to stimulate clonal expansion and differentiation. J. Immunol. 174, 4465–4469.
- Díaz-San Segundo, F., Weiss, M., Pérez-Martín, E., Dias, C.C., Grubman, M.J., De Los Santos, T., 2012. Inoculation of swine with foot-and-mouth disease SAP-mutant virus induces early protection against disease. J. Virol. 86, 1316–1327. Dauer, M., Pohl, K., Obermaier, B., Meskendahl, T., Röbe, J., Schnurr, M., Endres, S.,
- Dauer, M., Pohl, K., Obermaier, B., Meskendahl, T., Röbe, J., Schnurr, M., Endres, S., Eigler, A., 2003. Interferon-α disables dendritic cell precursors: dendritic cells derived from interferon-α-treated monocytes are defective in maturation and T-cell stimulation. Immunology 110, 38–47.
- Dawson, H.D., Loveland, J.E., Pascal, G., Gilbert, J.G., Uenishi, H., Mann, K.M., Sang, Y., Zhang, J., Carvalho-Silva, D., Hunt, T., 2013. Structural and functional annotation of the porcine immunome. BMC Genomics 14, 332.
- Den Boon, J., Snijder, E., Chirnside, E., De Vries, A., Horzinek, M., Spaan, W., 1991. Equine arteritis virus is not a togavirus but belongs to the coronaviruslike superfamily. J. Virol. 65, 2910–2920.
- Den Boon, J., Faaberg, K.S., Meulenberg, J., Wassenaar, A., Plagemann, P., Gorbalenya, A.E., Snijder, E.J., 1995. Processing and evolution of the N-terminal region of the arterivirus replicase ORF1a protein: identification of two papainlike cysteine proteases. J. Virol. 69, 4500–4505.

Dokland, T., 2010. The structural biology of PRRSV. Virus Res. 154, 86–97.

- Dragan, A.I., Hargreaves, V.V., Makeyeva, E.N., Privalov, P.L., 2007. Mechanisms of activation of interferon regulator factor 3: the role of C-terminal domain phosphorylation in IRF-3 dimerization and DNA binding. Nucl. Acids Res. 35, 3525–3534.
- Du, J., Ge, X., Liu, Y., Jiang, P., Wang, Z., Zhang, R., Zhou, L., Guo, X., Han, J., Yang, H., 2016. Targeting swine leukocyte antigen class I molecules for proteasomal degradation by the nonstructural protein 1α replicase protein of the Chinese highly pathogenic porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus strain JXwn06. J. Virol. 90, 682–693.
- Duan, X., Nauwynck, H., Pensaert, M., 1997. Effects of origin and state of differentiation and activation of monocytes/macrophages on their susceptibility to porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV). Arch. Virol. 142, 2483–2497.
- Dwivedi, V., Manickam, C., Patterson, R., Dodson, K., Murtaugh, M., Torrelles, J.B., Schlesinger, L.S., Renukaradhya, G.J., 2011a. Cross-protective immunity to porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus by intranasal delivery of a live virus vaccine with a potent adjuvant. Vaccine 29, 4058–4066.
- Dwivedi, V., Manickam, C., Patterson, R., Dodson, K., Weeman, M., Renukaradhya, G. J., 2011b. Intranasal delivery of whole cell lysate of Mycobacterium tuberculosis induces protective immune responses to a modified live porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus vaccine in pigs. Vaccine 29, 4067–4076.

Dwivedi, V., Manickam, C., Binjawadagi, B., Linhares, D., Murtaugh, M.P., Renukaradhya, G.J., 2012. Evaluation of immune responses to porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in pigs during early stage of infection under farm conditions. Virol. J. 9, 45.

- Fang, Y., Snijder, E.J., 2010. The PRRSV replicase: exploring the multifunctionality of an intriguing set of nonstructural proteins. Virus Res. 154, 61–76.
- Fang, Y., Kim, D.-Y., Ropp, S., Steen, P., Christopher-Hennings, J., Nelson, E.A., Rowland, R.R., 2004. Heterogeneity in nonstructural protein 2 of European-like porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome viruses isolated in the United States. Virus Res. 100, 229–235.
- Fang, Y., Treffers, E.E., Li, Y., Tas, A., Sun, Z., Van Der Meer, Y., De Ru, A.H., Van Veelen, P.A., Atkins, J.F., Snijder, E.J., Firth, A.E., 2012. Efficient -2 frameshifting by mammalian ribosomes to synthesize an additional arterivirus protein. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 109, E2920–E2928.
- Fink, K., Lang, K.S., Manjarrez-Orduno, N., Junt, T., Senn, B.M., Holdener, M., Akira, S., Zinkernagel, R.M., Hengartner, H., 2006. Early type I interferon-mediated signals on B cells specifically enhance antiviral humoral responses. Eur. J. Immunol. 36, 2094–2105.
- Firth, A.E., Zevenhoven-Dobbe, J.C., Wills, N.M., Go, Y.Y., Balasuriya, U.B., Atkins, J.F., Snijder, E.J., Posthuma, C.C., 2011. Discovery of a small arterivirus gene that overlaps the GP5 coding sequence and is important for virus production. J. Gen. Virol. 92, 1097–1106.
- Frias-Staheli, N., Giannakopoulos, N.V., Kikkert, M., Taylor, S.L., Bridgen, A., Paragas, J., Richt, J.A., Rowland, R.R., Schmaljohn, C.S., Lenschow, D.J., 2007. Ovarian tumor domain-containing viral proteases evade ubiquitin-and ISG15dependent innate immune responses. Cell. Host. Microbes 2, 404–416.
- Fu, Y., Quan, R., Zhang, H., Hou, J., Tang, J., Feng, W.-h., 2012. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus induces interleukin-15 through the NF-κB signaling pathway. J. Virol. 86, 7625–7636.
- Gautier, G., Humbert, M., Deauvieau, F., Scuiller, M., Hiscott, J., Bates, E.E., Trinchieri, G., Caux, C., Garrone, P., 2005. A type I interferon autocrine–paracrine loop is involved in Toll-like receptor-induced interleukin-12p70 secretion by dendritic cells. J. Exp. Med. 201, 1435–1446.
- Gerner, W., Kaser, T., Saalmuller, A., 2009. Porcine T lymphocytes and NK cells-an update. Dev. Comp. Immunol. 33, 310–320.
- Gessani, S., Conti, L., Del Cornò, M., Belardelli, F., 2014. Type I interferons as
- regulators of human antigen presenting cell functions. Toxin 6, 1696–1723. Gommerman, J.L., Browning, J.L., Ware, C.F., 2014. The lymphotoxin network: orchestrating a type I interferon response to optimize adaptive immunity. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 25, 139–145.
- Gorbalenya, A.E., Enjuanes, L., Ziebuhr, J., Snijder, E.J., 2006. Nidovirales: evolving the largest RNA virus genome. Virus Res. 117, 17–37.
- Groenen, M.A., Archibald, A.L., Uenishi, H., Tuggle, C.K., Takeuchi, Y., Rothschild, M.F., Rogel-Gaillard, C., Park, C., Milan, D., Megens, H.-J., 2012. Analyses of pig genomes provide insight into porcine demography and evolution. Nature 491, 393–398.
- Han, M., Yoo, D., 2014. Modulation of innate immune signaling by nonstructural protein 1 (nsp1) in the family Arteriviridae. Virus Res. 194, 100–109.
- Han, J., Wang, Y., Faaberg, K.S., 2006. Complete genome analysis of RFLP 184 isolates of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. Virus Res. 122, 175– 182.
- Han, J., Liu, G., Wang, Y., Faaberg, K.S., 2007. Identification of nonessential regions of the nonstructural protein 2 replicase protein of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus strain VR-2332 for replication in cell culture. J. Virol. 81, 9878–9890.
- Han, M., Du, Y., Song, C., Yoo, D., 2013. Degradation of CREB-binding protein and modulation of type I interferon induction by the zinc finger motif of the porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus nonstructural protein 1α subunit. Virus Res. 172, 54–65.
- Han, M., Ke, H., Zhang, Q., Yoo, D., 2017. Nuclear imprisonment of host cellular mRNA by nonstructural protein 1β protein of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. Virology 505, 42–55.
- syndrome virus. Virology 505, 42–55. Havenar-Daughton, C., Kolumam, G.A., Murali-Krishna, K., 2006. Cutting Edge: the direct action of type I IFN on CD4T cells is critical for sustaining clonal expansion in response to a viral but not a bacterial infection. J. Immunol. 176, 3315–3319.
- Heer, A.K., Shamshiev, A., Donda, A., Uematsu, S., Akira, S., Kopf, M., Marsland, B.J., 2007. TLR signaling fine-tunes anti-influenza B cell responses without regulating effector T cell responses. J. Immunol. 178, 2182–2191.
- honda, K., Yanai, H., Takaoka, A., Taniguchi, T., 2005. Regulation of the type I IFN induction: a current view. Int. Immunol. 17, 1367–1378.
- Hu, X., Jiang, Y., Li, X., Gao, Y., Guo, X., Chi, X., Yan, H., Feng, J., Zhong, J., Sun, B., Shao, X., 2014. Long-term effect on natural killer cells by interferon- α therapy on the outcomes of HCV infection. J. Interferon Cytokine Res. 34, 366–375.
- Huang, C., Zhang, Q., Guo, X.K., Yu, Z.B., Xu, A.T., Tang, J., Feng, W.H., 2014. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus nonstructural protein 4 antagonizes beta interferon expression by targeting the NF-kappaB essential modulator. J. Virol. 88, 10934–10945.
- Huang, C., Du, Y., Yu, Z., Zhang, Q., Liu, Y., Tang, J., Shi, J., Feng, W.H., 2016. Highly pathogenic porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus nonstructural protein 4 cleaves VISA to impair antiviral responses mediated by RIG-I-like receptors. Sci. Rep. 6, 28497.
- Hwang, İ., Scott, J.M., Kakarla, T., Duriancik, D.M., Choi, S., Cho, C., Lee, T., Park, H., French, A.R., Beli, E., Gardner, E., 2012. Activation mechanisms of natural killer cells during influenza virus infection. PLoS One 7, e51858.

- Ito, T., Amakawa, R., Inaba, M., Ikehara, S., Inaba, K., Fukuhara, S., 2001. Differential regulation of human blood dendritic cell subsets by IFNs. J. Immunol. 166, 2961–2969.
- Ivanov, K.A., Hertzig, T., Rozanov, M., Bayer, S., Thiel, V., Gorbalenya, A.E., Ziebuhr, J., 2004. Major genetic marker of nidoviruses encodes a replicative endoribonuclease. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 101, 12694–12699.
- Ivashkiv, L.B., Donlin, L.T., 2014. Regulation of type I interferon responses. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 14, 36–49.
- Jang, H., Ngunjiri, J.M., Lee, C.-W., 2016. Association between interferon response and protective efficacy of NS1-truncated mutants as Influenza vaccine candidates in chickens. PLoS One 11, e0156603.
- Jennings, R.N., Grayson, J.M., Barton, E.S., 2014. Type I interferon signaling enhances CD8+ T cell effector function and differentiation during murine gammaherpesvirus 68 infection. J. Virol. 88, 14040–14049.
- Johnson, C.R., Griggs, T.F., Gnanandarajah, J., Murtaugh, M.P., 2011. Novel structural protein in porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus encoded by an alternative ORF5 present in all arteriviruses. J. Gen. Virol. 92, 1107–1116.
- Karikó, K., Ni, H., Capodici, J., Lamphier, M., Weissman, D., 2004. mRNA is an endogenous ligand for Toll-like receptor 3. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 12542–12550.
- Kawai, T., Akira, S., 2011. Toll-like receptors and their crosstalk with other innate receptors in infection and immunity. Immunity 34, 637–650.
- Keppler, S.J., Rosenits, K., Koegl, T., Vucikuja, S., Aichele, P., 2012. Signal 3 cytokines as modulators of primary immune responses during infections: the interplay of type I IFN and IL-12 in CD8 T cell responses. PLoS One 7, e40865.
- Kim, O., Sun, Y., Lai, F., Song, C., Yoo, D., 2010. Modulation of type I interferon induction by PRRSV and degradation of CBP by nonstructural protein 1 in MARC-145 and HeLa cells. Virology 402, 315–326.
- Kimman, T.G., Cornelissen, L.A., Moormann, R.J., Rebel, J.M., Stockhofe-Zurwieden, N., 2009. Challenges for porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) vaccinology. Vaccine 27, 3704–3718.
- Klinge, K.L., Vaughn, E.M., Roof, M.B., Bautista, E.M., Murtaugh, M.P., 2009. Agedependent resistance to Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus replication in swine. Virol. J. 6, 177.
- Kohlmeier, J.E., Cookenham, T., Roberts, A.D., Miller, S.C., Woodland, D.L., 2010. Type I interferons regulate cytolytic activity of memory CD8+ T cells in the lung airways during respiratory virus challenge. Immunity 33, 96–105.
- Kolumam, G.A., Thomas, S., Thompson, L.J., Sprent, J., Murali-Krishna, K., 2005. Type I interferons act directly on CD8 T cells to allow clonal expansion and memory formation in response to viral infection. J. Exp. Med. 202, 637–650.
- Kroese, M.V., Zevenhoven-Dobbe, J.C., Bos-de Ruijter, J.N., Peeters, B.P., Meulenberg, J.J., Cornelissen, L.A., Snijder, E.J., 2008. The nonstructural protein 1α and nonstructural protein 1β papain-like autoproteinases are essential for porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus RNA synthesis. J. Gen. Virol. 89, 494–499.
- Labarque, G.G., Nauwynck, H.J., Van Reeth, K., Pensaert, M.B., 2000. Effect of cellular changes and onset of humoral immunity on the replication of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in the lungs of pigs. J. Gen. Virol. 81, 1327–1334.
- Laneve, P., Altieri, F., Fiori, M.E., Scaloni, A., Bozzoni, I., Caffarelli, E., 2003. Purification, cloning, and characterization of XendoU, a novel endoribonuclease involved in processing of intron-encoded small nucleolar RNAs in Xenopus laevis. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 13026–13032.
- Le Bon, A., Etchart, N., Rossmann, C., Ashton, M., Hou, S., Gewert, D., Borrow, P., Tough, D.F., 2003. Cross-priming of CD8+ T cells stimulated by virus-induced type I interferon. Nat. Immunol. 4, 1009–1015.
- Le Bon, A., Durand, V., Kamphuis, E., Thompson, C., Bulfone-Paus, S., Rossmann, C., Kalinke, U., Tough, D.F., 2006a. Direct stimulation of T cells by type I IFN enhances the CD8+ T cell response during cross-priming. J. Immunol. 176, 4682– 4689.
- Le Bon, A., Thompson, C., Kamphuis, E., Durand, V., Rossmann, C., Kalinke, U., Tough, D.F., 2006b. Cutting edge: enhancement of antibody responses through direct stimulation of B and T cells by type I IFN. J. Immunol. 176. 2074–2078.
- stimulation of B and T cells by type I IFN. J. Immunol. 176, 2074–2078.
 Lee, C., Calvert, J.G., Welch, S.-K.W., Yoo, D., 2005. A DNA-launched reverse genetics system for porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus reveals that homodimerization of the nucleocapsid protein is essential for virus infectivity. Virology 331, 47–62.
- Lee, C., Hodgins, D., Calvert, J.G., Welch, S.-K.W., Jolie, R., Yoo, D., 2006a. Mutations within the nuclear localization signal of the porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus nucleocapsid protein attenuate virus replication. Virology 346, 238–250.
- Lee, C., Hodgins, D.C., Calvert, J.G., Welch, S.-K.W., Jolie, R., Yoo, D., 2006b. The nuclear localization signal of the PRRS virus nucleocapsid protein modulates viral replication in vitro and antibody response in vivo. The Nidoviruses. Springer, pp. 145–148.
- Li, X.-D., Sun, L., Seth, R.B., Pineda, G., Chen, Z.J., 2005. Hepatitis C virus protease NS3/4A cleaves mitochondrial antiviral signaling protein off the mitochondria to evade innate immunity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102, 17717–17722.
- Li, H., Zheng, Z., Zhou, P., Zhang, B., Shi, Z., Hu, Q., Wang, H., 2010. The cysteine protease domain of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus nonstructural protein 2 antagonizes interferon regulatory factor 3 activation. J. Gen. Virol. 91, 2947–2958.
- Li, Y., Zhu, L., Lawson, S.R., Fang, Y., 2013. Targeted mutations in a highly conserved motif of the nonstructural protein 1β protein impair the interferon antagonizing activity of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. J. Gen. Virol. 94, 1972–1983.

- Li, Y., Shyu, D.-L., Shang, P., Bai, J., Ouyang, K., Dhakal, S., Hiremath, J., Binjawadagi, B., Renukaradhya, G.J., Fang, Y., 2016. Mutations in a highly conserved motif of nonstructural protein 1 β protein attenuate the innate immune suppression function of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. J. Virol. 90, 3584–3599.
- Lin, R., Heylbroeck, C., Pitha, P.M., Hiscott, J., 1998. Virus-dependent phosphorylation of the IRF-3 transcription factor regulates nuclear translocation, transactivation potential, and proteasome-mediated degradation. Mol. Cell. Biol. 18, 2986–2996.
- Linhares, D., Cano, J., Torremorell, M., Morrison, R., 2014. Comparison of time to PRRSv-stability and production losses between two exposure programs to control PRRSv in sow herds. Prev. Vet. Med. 116, 111–119.
- Liu, Y.-J., 2005. IPC: professional type 1 interferon-producing cells and plasmacytoid dendritic cell precursors. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 23, 275–306.
- Lopez, O.J., Oliveira, M.F., Garcia, E.A., Kwon, B.J., Doster, A., Osorio, F.A., 2007. Protection against porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) infection through passive transfer of PRRSV-neutralizing antibodies is dose dependent. Clin. Vaccine Immunol. 14, 269–275.
- Loving, C.L., Brockmeier, S.L., Sacco, R.E., 2007. Differential type I interferon activation and susceptibility of dendritic cell populations to porcine arterivirus. Immunology 120, 217–229.
- Loving, C.L., Osorio, F.A., Murtaugh, M.P., Zuckermann, F.A., 2015. Innate and adaptive immunity against porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol. 167, 1–14.
- Lucas, M., Schachterle, W., Oberle, K., Aichele, P., Diefenbach, A., 2007. Dendritic cells prime natural killer cells by trans-presenting interleukin 15. Immunity 26, 503– 517.
- Lunney, J.K., Fritz, E.R., Reecy, J.M., Kuhar, D., Prucnal, E., Molina, R., Christopher-Hennings, J., Zimmerman, J., Rowland, R.R., 2010. Interleukin-8, interleukin-1β, and interferon-γ levels are linked to PRRS virus clearance. Viral. Immunol. 23, 127–134.
- Lunney, J.K., Fang, Y., Ladinig, A., Chen, N., Li, Y., Rowland, B., Renukaradhya, G.J., 2016. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV): pathogenesis and interaction with the immune system. Annu. Rev. Anim. Biosci. 4, 129–154.
- Luo, R., Xiao, S., Jiang, Y., Jin, H., Wang, D., Liu, M., Chen, H., Fang, L., 2008. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) suppresses interferon-β production by interfering with the RIG-I signaling pathway. Mol. Immuol. 45, 2839–2846.
- Mack, E.A., Kallal, L.E., Demers, D.A., Biron, C.A., 2011. Type 1 interferon induction of natural killer cell gamma interferon production for defense during lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus infection. mBio 2, e00169–00111.
- Madera, S., Rapp, M., Firth, M.A., Beilke, J.N., Lanier, L.L., Sun, J.C., 2016. Type I IFN promotes NK cell expansion during viral infection by protecting NK cells against fratricide. J. Exp. Med. 213, 225–233.
- Magar, R., Robinson, Y., Dubuc, C., Larochelle, R., 1995. Isolation and experimental oral transmission in pigs of a porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus isolate. Corona-and Related Viruses. Springer, pp. 139–144.
- Manns, M.P., McHutchison, J.G., Gordon, S.C., Rustgi, V.K., Shiffman, M., Reindollar, R., Goodman, Z.D., Koury, K., Ling, M.-H., Albrecht, J.K., 2001. Peginterferon alfa-2b plus ribavirin compared with interferon alfa-2b plus ribavirin for initial treatment of chronic hepatitis C: a randomised trial. Lancet 358, 958–965.
- Marcus, P.I., Ngunjiri, J.M., Sekellick, M.J., Wang, L., Lee, C.-W., 2010. In vitro analysis of virus particle subpopulations in candidate live-attenuated influenza vaccines distinguishes effective from ineffective vaccines. J. Virol. 84, 10974–10981.
- Mardassi, H., Wilson, L., Mounir, S., Dea, S., 1994. Detection of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus and efficient differentiation between Canadian and European strains by reverse transcription and PCR amplification. J. Clin. Microbiol. 32, 2197–2203.
- Marrack, P., Kappler, J., Mitchell, T., 1999. Type I interferons keep activated T cells alive. J. Exp. Med. 189, 521–530.
- Marshall, H.D., Prince, A.L., Berg, L.J., Welsh, R.M., 2010. IFN-αβ and self-MHC divert CD8 T cells into a distinct differentiation pathway characterized by rapid acquisition of effector functions. J. Immunol. 185, 1419–1428.
- Martinet, V., Tonon, S., Torres, D., Azouz, A., Nguyen, M., Kohler, A., Flamand, V., Mao, C.-A., Klein, W.H., Leo, O., 2015. Type I interferons regulate eomesodermin expression and the development of unconventional memory CD8+ T cells. Nat. Commun. 6, 7089.
- Martinez, J., Huang, X., Yang, Y., 2008. Direct action of type I IFN on NK cells is required for their activation in response to vaccinia viral infection in vivo. J. Immunol. 180, 1592–1597.
- Meier, W.A., Husmann, R.J., Schnitzlein, W.M., Osorio, F.A., Lunney, J.K., Zuckermann, F.A., 2004. Cytokines and synthetic double-stranded RNA augment the T helper 1 immune response of swine to porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol. 102, 299–314.
- Meulenberg, J.J., Hulst, M.M., de Meijer, E.J., Moonen, P.L., den Besten, A., de Kluyver, E.P., Wensvoort, G., Moormann, R.J., 1993. Lelystad virus, the causative agent of porcine epidemic abortion and respiratory syndrome (PEARS), is related to LDV and EAV. Virology 192, 62–72.
- Miller, L.C., Laegreid, W.W., Bono, J.L., Chitko-McKown, C.G., Fox, J.M., 2004. Interferon type I response in porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus-infected MARC-145 cells. Arch. Virol. 149, 2453–2463.
- Montoya, M., Schiavoni, G., Mattei, F., Gresser, I., Belardelli, F., Borrow, P., Tough, D.F., 2002. Type I interferons produced by dendritic cells promote their phenotypic and functional activation. Blood 99, 3263–3271.

- Murtaugh, M.P., Johnson, C.R., Xiao, Z., Scamurra, R.W., Zhou, Y., 2009. Species specialization in cytokine biology: is interleukin-4 central to the T(H)1-T(H)2 paradigm in swine? Dev. Comp. Immunol. 33.
- Music, N., Gagnon, C.A., 2010. The role of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) virus structural and nonstructural proteins in virus pathogenesis. Anim. Health Res. Rev. 11, 135–163.
- Napetschnig, J., Wu, H., 2013. Molecular basis of NF-κB signaling. Annu. Rev. Biophys. 42, 443.
- Nedialkova, D.D., Ulferts, R., van den Born, E., Lauber, C., Gorbalenya, A.E., Ziebuhr, J., Snijder, E.J., 2009. Biochemical characterization of arterivirus nonstructural protein 11 reveals the nidovirus-wide conservation of a replicative endoribonuclease. J. Virol. 83, 5671–5682.
- Nelsen, C.J., Murtaugh, M.P., Faaberg, K.S., 1999. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus comparison: divergent evolution on two continents. J. Virol. 73, 270–280.
- Ngunjiri, J.M., Ali, A., Boyaka, P., Marcus, P.I., Lee, C.-W., 2015. In vivo assessment of NS1-truncated influenza virus with a novel SLSYSINWRH motif as a selfadjuvanting live attenuated vaccine. PLoS One 10, e0118934.
- Nguyen, K.B., Cousens, L.P., Doughty, L.A., Pien, G.C., Durbin, J.E., Biron, C.A., 2000. Interferon α/β-mediated inhibition and promotion of interferon γ: STAT1 resolves a paradox. Nat. Immunol. 1, 70–76.
- Nguyen, K.B., Salazar-Mather, T.P., Dalod, M.Y., Van Deusen, J.B., Wei, X.Q., Liew, F.Y., Caligiuri, M.A., Durbin, J.E., Biron, C.A., 2002. Coordinated and distinct roles for IFN- $\alpha\beta$, IL-12, and IL-15 regulation of NK cell responses to viral infection. J. Immunol. 169, 4279–4287.
- Nice, T.J., Osborne, L.C., Tomov, V.T., Artis, D., Wherry, E.J., Virgin, H.W., 2016. Type I interferon receptor deficiency in dendritic cells facilitates systemic murine norovirus persistence despite enhanced adaptive immunity. PLoS Pathog. 12, e1005684.
- Nielsen, J., Bøtner, A., 1997. Hematological and immunological parameters of 412month old pigs infected with PRRS virus. Vet. Microbiol. 55, 289–294.
- Osorio, F.A., Galeota, J.A., Nelson, E., Brodersen, B., Doster, A., Wills, R., Zuckermann, F., Laegreid, W.W., 2002. Passive transfer of virus-specific antibodies confers protection against reproductive failure induced by a virulent strain of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus and establishes sterilizing immunity. Virology 302, 9–20.
- Panne, D., Maniatis, T., Harrison, S.C., 2007. An atomic model of the interferon-β enhanceosome. Cell 129, 1111–1123.
- Paolini, R., Bernardini, G., Molfetta, R., Santoni, A., 2015. NK cells and interferons. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 26, 113–120.
- Parlato, S., Santini, S.M., Lapenta, C., Di Pucchio, T., Logozzi, M., Spada, M., Giammarioli, A.M., Malorni, W., Fais, S., Belardelli, F., 2001. Expression of CCR-7, MIP-3β, and Th-1 chemokines in type I IFN-induced monocyte-derived dendritic cells: importance for the rapid acquisition of potent migratory and functional activities. Blood 98, 3022–3029.
- Patel, D., Nan, Y., Shen, M., Ritthipichai, K., Zhu, X., Zhang, Y.-J., 2010. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus inhibits type I interferon signaling by blocking STAT1/STAT2 nuclear translocation. J. Virol. 84, 11045–11055.
- Pinto, A.K., Daffis, S., Brien, J.D., Gainey, M.D., Yokoyama, W.M., Sheehan, K.C., Murphy, K.M., Schreiber, R.D., Diamond, M.S., 2011. A temporal role of type I interferon signaling in CD8+ T cell maturation during acute West Nile virus infection. PLoS Pathog. 7, e1002407.
- Posthuma, C.C., Nedialkova, D.D., Zevenhoven-Dobbe, J.C., Blokhuis, J.H., Gorbalenya, A.E., Snijder, E.J., 2006. Site-directed mutagenesis of the Nidovirus replicative endoribonuclease NendoU exerts pleiotropic effects on the arterivirus life cycle. J. Virol. 80, 1653–1661.Purtha, W.E., Chachu, K.A., Virgin, H.W., Diamond, M.S., 2008. Early B-cell activation
- Purtha, W.E., Chachu, K.A., Virgin, H.W., Diamond, M.S., 2008. Early B-cell activation after West Nile virus infection requires alpha/beta interferon but not antigen receptor signaling. J. Virol. 82, 10964–10974.
- Radkowski, M., Gallegos-Orozco, J.F., Jablonska, J., Colby, T.V., Walewska-Zielecka, B., Kubicka, J., Wilkinson, J., Adair, D., Rakela, J., Laskus, T., 2005. Persistence of hepatitis C virus in patients successfully treated for chronic hepatitis C. Hepatology 41, 106–114.
- Ramos, H.J., Davis, A.M., Cole, A.G., Schatzle, J.D., Forman, J., Farrar, J.D., 2009. Reciprocal responsiveness to interleukin-12 and interferon-α specifies human CD8+ effector versus central memory T-cell fates. Blood 113, 5516–5525.
- CD8+ effector versus central memory T-cell fates. Blood 113, 5516–5525. Rau, F.C., Dieter, J., Luo, Z., Priest, S.O., Baumgarth, N., 2009. B7-1/2 (CD80/CD86) direct signaling to B cells enhances IgG secretion. J. Immunol. 183, 7661–7671. Renukaradhya, G.J., Alekseev, K., Jung, K., Fang, Y., Saif, L.J., 2010. Porcine
- Kenukaradnya, G.J., Alekseev, K., Jung, K., Fang, Y., Sait, L.J., 2010. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus–induced immunosuppression exacerbates the inflammatory response to porcine respiratory coronavirus in pigs. Viral Immunol. 23.
- Ricagno, S., Egloff, M.-P., Ulferts, R., Coutard, B., Nurizzo, D., Campanacci, V., Cambillau, C., Ziebuhr, J., Canard, B., 2006. Crystal structure and mechanistic determinants of SARS coronavirus nonstructural protein 15 define an endoribonuclease family. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103, 11892–11897.
- Rouzaut, A., Garasa, S., Teijeira, Á., González, I., Martinez-Forero, I., Suarez, N., Larrea, E., Alfaro, C., Palazón, A., Dubrot, J., Hervás-Stubbs, S., 2010. Dendritic cells adhere to and transmigrate across lymphatic endothelium in response to IFN-α. Eur. J. Immunol. 40, 3054–3063.
- Rowland, R.R., Yoo, D., 2003. Nucleolar-cytoplasmic shuttling of PRRSV nucleocapsid protein: a simple case of molecular mimicry or the complex regulation by nuclear import, nucleolar localization and nuclear export signal sequences. Virus Res. 95, 23–33.
- Rowland, R., Kervin, R., Kuckleburg, C., Sperlich, A., Benfield, D.A., 1999. The localization of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus

nucleocapsid protein to the nucleolus of infected cells and identification of a potential nucleolar localization signal sequence. Virus Res. 64, 1-12.

- Rowland, R.R., Lawson, S., Rossow, K., Benfield, D.A., 2003a. Lymphoid tissue tropism of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus replication during persistent infection of pigs originally exposed to virus in utero. Vet. Microbiol. 96 219-235
- Rowland, R.R., Schneider, P., Fang, Y., Wootton, S., Yoo, D., Benfield, D.A., 2003b. Peptide domains involved in the localization of the porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus nucleocapsid protein to the nucleolus. Virology 316, 135-145.
- Sagong, M., Lee, C., 2011. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus nucleocapsid protein modulates interferon-β production by inhibiting IRF3 activation in immortalized porcine alveolar macrophages. Arch. Virol. 156, 2187-2195.
- Sang, Y., Rowland, R.R., Hesse, R.A., Blecha, F., 2010. Differential expression and activity of the porcine type I interferon family. Physiol. Genomics 42, 248-258.
- Sang, Y., Shi, J., Sang, W., Rowland, R.R.R., Blecha, F., 2012. Replication-competent recombinant porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) viruses expressing indicator proteins and antiviral cytokines. Viruses 4, 102.
- Sang, Y., Bergkamp, J., Blecha, F., 2014a. Molecular evolution of the porcine type I interferon family: subtype-specific expression and antiviral activity. PLoS One 9, e112378.
- Sang, Y., Rowland, R.R., Blecha, F., 2014b. Antiviral regulation in porcine monocytic cells at different activation states. J. Virol. 88, 11395–11410.
- Saraiva, M., O'Garra, A., 2010. The regulation of IL-10 production by immune cells. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 10, 170-181.
- Schneider, W.M., Chevillotte, M.D., Rice, C.M., 2014. Interferon-stimulated genes: a complex web of host defenses. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 32, 513.
- Shi, X., Wang, L., Li, X., Zhang, G., Guo, J., Zhao, D., Chai, S., Deng, R., 2011. Endoribonuclease activities of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus nonstructural protein 11 was essential for nonstructural protein 11 to inhibit IFN-β induction. Mol. Immunol. 48, 1568–1572.
- Shi, Y., Li, Y., Lei, Y., Ye, G., Shen, Z., Sun, L., Luo, R., Wang, D., Fu, Z.F., Xiao, S., 2016. A Dimerization-dependent mechanism drives the endoribonuclease function of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus nonstructural protein 11. . Virol. 90, 4579–4592.
- Shiffman, M.L., Hofmann, C.M., Contos, M.J., Luketic, V.A., Sanyal, A.J., Sterling, R.K., Ferreira-Gonzalez, A., Mills, A.S., Garret, C., 1999. A randomized, controlled trial of maintenance interferon therapy for patients with chronic hepatitis C virus and persistent viremia. Gastroenterol 117, 1164-1172.
- Shimizu, M., Yamada, S., Kawashima, K., Ohashi, S., Shimizu, S., Ogawa, T., 1996. Changes of lymphocyte subpopulations in pigs infected with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) virus. Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol. 50, 19–27.
- Silva-Campa, E., Mata-Haro, V., Mateu, E., Hernández, J., 2012. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus induces CD4+ CD8+ CD25+ Foxp3+ regulatory T cells (Tregs). Virology 430, 73-80.
- Snell, L.M., Brooks, D.G., 2015. New insights into type I interferon and the immunopathogenesis of persistent viral infections. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 34, 91_98
- Snijder, E.J., Wassenaar, A., Spaan, W., 1992. The 5'end of the equine arteritis virus replicase gene encodes a papainlike cysteine protease. J. Virol. 66, 7040–7048.
- Snijder, E.J., Wassenaar, A.L., van Dinten, L.C., Spaan, W.J., Gorbalenya, A.E., 1996. The arterivirus nonstructural protein 4 protease is the prototype of a novel group of chymotrypsin-like enzymes, the 3C-like serine proteases. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 4864-4871.
- Snijder, E.J., Bredenbeek, P.J., Dobbe, J.C., Thiel, V., Ziebuhr, J., Poon, L.L., Guan, Y., Rozanov, M., Spaan, W.J., Gorbalenya, A.E., 2003. Unique and conserved features of genome and proteome of SARS-coronavirus, an early split-off from the coronavirus group 2 lineage. J. Mol. Biol. 331, 991–1004. Snijder, E.J., Kikkert, M., Fang, Y., 2013. Arterivirus molecular biology and
- pathogenesis. J. Gen. Virol. 94, 2141–2163. Solórzano, A., Webby, R.J., Lager, K.M., Janke, B.H., García-Sastre, A., Richt, J.A., 2005. Mutations in the NS1 protein of swine influenza virus impair anti-interferon activity and confer attenuation in pigs. J. Virol. 79, 7535–7543.
- Song, C., Lu, R., Bienzle, D., Liu, H.-C., Yoo, D., 2009. Interaction of the porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus nucleocapsid protein with the inhibitor of MyoD family-a domain-containing protein. Biol. Chem. 390, 215-223
- Song, C., Krell, P., Yoo, D., 2010. Nonstructural protein 1α subunit-based inhibition of NF-κB activation and suppression of interferon-β production by porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. Virology 407, 268-280.
- Song, S., Bi, J., Wang, D., Fang, L., Zhang, L., Li, F., Chen, H., Xiao, S., 2013. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus infection activates IL-10 production through NF-kB and p38 MAPK pathways in porcine alveolar macrophages. Dev. Comp. Immunol. 39, 265-272.
- Soudja, S.M.H., Ruiz, A.L., Marie, J.C., Lauvau, G., 2012. Inflammatory monocytes activate memory CD8+ T and innate NK lymphocytes independent of cognate antigen during microbial pathogen invasion. Immunity 37, 549-562.
- Spadaro, F., Lapenta, C., Donati, S., Abalsamo, L., Barnaba, V., Belardelli, F., Santini, S. M., Ferrantini, M., 2012. IFN- α enhances cross-presentation in human dendritic cells by modulating antigen survival, endocytic routing, and processing. Blood 119 1407-1417
- Subramaniam, S., Kwon, B., Beura, L.K., Kuszynski, C.A., Pattnaik, A.K., Osorio, F.A., 2010. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus nonstructural

protein 1 suppresses tumor necrosis factor-alpha promoter activation by inhibiting NF-κB and Sp1. Virology 406, 270-279.

- Sun, Y., Xue, F., Guo, Y., Ma, M., Hao, N., Zhang, X.C., Lou, Z., Li, X., Rao, Z., 2009. Crystal structure of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus leader protease nonstructural protein 1a. J. Virol. 83, 10931-10940.
- Sun, Z., Chen, Z., Lawson, S.R., Fang, Y., 2010. The cysteine protease domain of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus nonstructural protein 2 possesses deubiquitinating and interferon antagonism functions. J. Virol. 84, 7832-7846.
- Sun, Y., Han, M., Kim, C., Calvert, J.G., Yoo, D., 2012a. Interplay between interferonmediated innate immunity and porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. Viruses 4, 424-446.
- Sun, Z., Li, Y., Ransburgh, R., Snijder, E.J., Fang, Y., 2012b. Nonstructural protein 2 of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus inhibits the antiviral function of interferon-stimulated gene 15. J. Virol. 86, 3839-3850.
- Sun, Y., Li, D., Giri, S., Prasanth, S.G., Yoo, D., 2014. Differential host cell gene expression and regulation of cell cycle progression by nonstructural proteinof porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. BioMed Res. Intl. 2014, 1.
- Sun, Y., Ke, H., Han, M., Chen, N., Fang, W., Yoo, D., 2016. Nonstructural protein 11 of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus suppresses both MAVS and RIG-I expression as one of the mechanisms to antagonize type I interferon production. PLoS One 11, e0168314.
- Suradhat, S., Thanawongnuwech, R., 2003. Upregulation of interleukin-10 gene expression in the leukocytes of pigs infected with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. J. Gen. Virol. 84, 2755-2760.
- Suradhat, S., Thanawongnuwech, R., Poovorawan, Y., 2003. Upregulation of IL-10 gene expression in porcine peripheral blood mononuclear cells by porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. J. Gen. Virol. 84, 453-459.
- Teijaro, J.R., Ng, C., Lee, A.M., Sullivan, B.M., Sheehan, K.C., Welch, M., Schreiber, R.D., de la Torre, J.C., Oldstone, M.B., 2013. Persistent LCMV infection is controlled by blockade of type I interferon signaling. Science 340, 207-211.
- Thanawongnuwech, R., Thacker, E.L., 2003. Interleukin-10, interleukin-12, and interferon-y levels in the respiratory tract following Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae and PRRSV infection in pigs. Viral Immonol. 16, 357-367.
- Thompson, L.J., Kolumam, G.A., Thomas, S., Murali-Krishna, K., 2006. Innate inflammatory signals induced by various pathogens differentially dictate the IFN-I dependence of CD8 T cells for clonal expansion and memory formation. J. Immunol. 177, 1746–1754.
- Tian, K., Yu, X., Zhao, T., Feng, Y., Cao, Z., Wang, C., Hu, Y., Chen, X., Hu, D., Tian, X., 2007. Emergence of fatal PRRSV variants: unparalleled outbreaks of atypical PRRS in China and molecular dissection of the unique hallmark. PLoS One 2, e526.
- Tian, X., Lu, G., Gao, F., Peng, H., Feng, Y., Ma, G., Bartlam, M., Tian, K., Yan, J., Hilgenfeld, R., 2009. Structure and cleavage specificity of the chymotrypsin-like serine protease (3CLSP/nsp4) of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV). J. Mol. Biol. 392, 977–993.
- Tijms, M.A., Snijder, E.J., 2003. Equine arteritis virus nonstructural protein 1, an essential factor for viral subgenomic mRNA synthesis, interacts with the cellular transcription co-factor p100. J. Gen. Virol. 84, 2317-2322.
- Tijms, M.A., van Dinten, L.C., Gorbalenya, A.E., Snijder, E.J., 2001. A zinc fingercontaining papain-like protease couples subgenomic mRNA synthesis to genome translation in a positive-stranded RNA virus. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 98, 1889–1894.
- Tijms, M.A., Van Der Meer, Y., Snijder, E.J., 2002. Nuclear localization of nonstructural protein 1 and nucleocapsid protein of equine arteritis virus. J. Gen. Virol. 83, 795–800.
- Tiims, M.A., Nedialkova, D.D., Zevenhoven-Dobbe, J.C., Gorbalenva, A.E., Sniider, E.I., 2007. Arterivirus subgenomic mRNA synthesis and virion biogenesis depend on the multifunctional nonstructural protein 1 autoprotease. J. Virol. 81, 10496-10505
- Tingstedt, J.E., Nielsen, J., 2004. Cellular immune responses in the lungs of pigs infected in utero with PRRSV: an immunohistochemical study. Viral Immunol. 17 558-564
- Torremorell, M., Moore, C., Christianson, W.T., 2002. Establishment of a herd negative for porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) from PRRSV-positive sources. J. Swine Health. Prod. 10, 153–160.
- Urban, S.L., Berg, L.J., Welsh, R.M., 2016. Type 1 interferon licenses naïve CD8 T cells to mediate anti-viral cytotoxicity. Virology 493, 52-59.
- Van Reeth, K., Labarque, G., Nauwynck, H., Pensaert, M., 1999. Differential production of proinflammatory cytokines in the pig lung during different respiratory virus infections: correlations with pathogenicity. Res. Vet. Sci. 67, 47-52
- Van Reeth, K., Van Gucht, S., Pensaert, M., 2002. In vivo studies on cytokine involvement during acute viral respiratory disease of swine: troublesome but rewarding. Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol. 87, 161-168.
- Vogel, K., Thomann, S., Vogel, B., Schuster, P., Schmidt, B., 2014. Both plasmacytoid dendritic cells and monocytes stimulate natural killer cells early during human herpes simplex virus type 1 infections. Immunology 143, 588–600.
- Vu, H.L., Kwon, B., Yoon, K.J., Laegreid, W.W., Pattnaik, A.K., Osorio, F.A., 2011. Immune evasion of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus through glycan shielding involves both glycoprotein 5 as well as glycoprotein 3. J. Virol. 85, 5555-5564.
- Wang, F.-X., Wen, Y.-J., Yang, B.-C., Liu, Z., Shi, X.C., Leng, X., Song, N., Wu, H., Chen, L.-Z., Cheng, S.-P., 2012. Role of nonstructural protein 2 in the regulation of the replication of the porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in MARC-145 cells: effect of gene silencing and over expression. Vet. Microbiol. 161, 58-65.

Wang, F.-X., Song, N., Chen, L.-Z., Cheng, S.-P., Wu, H., Wen, Y.-J., 2013a.

- Nonstructural protein 2 of the porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) virus: a crucial protein in viral pathogenesis immunity and diagnosis. Res. Vet. Sci. 95, 1–7.
- Wang, R., Nan, Y., Yu, Y., Zhang, Y.-J., 2013b. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus nonstructural protein 1β inhibits interferon-activated JAK/ STAT signal transduction by inducing karyopherin-α1 degradation. J. Virol. 87, 5219–5228.
- Wang, R., Xiao, Y., Opriessnig, T., Ding, Y., Yu, Y., Nan, Y., Ma, Z., Halbur, P.G., Zhang, Y.-J., 2013c. Enhancing neutralizing antibody production by an interferon-inducing porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus strain. Vaccine 31, 5537– 5543.
- Wensvoort, G., Terpstra, C., Pol, J.M., ter Laak, E.A., Bloemraad, M., de Kluyver, E.P., Kragten, C., van Buiten, L., den Besten, A., Wagenaar, F., et al., 1991. Mystery swine disease in The Netherlands: the isolation of Lelystad virus. Vet. Q. 13, 121– 130.
- Wills, R., Zimmerman, J., Yoon, K.-J., Swenson, S., McGinley, M., Hill, H., Platt, K., Christopher-Hennings, J., Nelson, E., 1997. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus: a persistent infection. Vet. Microbiol. 55, 231–240.
- Wilson, E.B., Yamada, D.H., Elsaesser, H., Herskovitz, J., Deng, J., Cheng, G., Aronow, B. J., Karp, C.L., Brooks, D.G., 2013. Blockade of chronic type I interferon signaling to control persistent LCMV infection. Science 340, 202–207.
- Wongyanin, P., Buranapraditkul, S., Yoo, D., Thanawongnuwech, R., Roth, J.A., Suradhat, S., 2012. Role of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus nucleocapsid protein in induction of interleukin-10 and regulatory Tlymphocytes (Treg). J. Gen. Virol. 93, 1236–1246.
- Wootton, S.K., Yoo, D., 2003. Homo-oligomerization of the porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus nucleocapsid protein and the role of disulfide linkages. J. Virol. 77, 4546–4557.
- Wootton, S., Yoo, D., Rogan, D., 2000. Full-length sequence of a Canadian porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) isolate. Arch. Virol. 145, 2297–2323.
- Wootton, S.K., Rowland, R.R., Yoo, D., 2002. Phosphorylation of the porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus nucleocapsid protein. J. Virol. 76, 10569–10576.
- Wu, J., Chen, Z.J., 2014. Innate immune sensing and signaling of cytosolic nucleic acids. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 32, 461–488.

- Xiao, S., Mo, D., Wang, Q., Jia, J., Qin, L., Yu, X., Niu, Y., Zhao, X., Liu, X., Chen, Y., 2010. Aberrant host immune response induced by highly virulent PRRSV identified by digital gene expression tag profiling. BMC Genomics 11, 1.
- Xu, X., Zhai, Y., Sun, F., Lou, Z., Su, D., Xu, Y., Zhang, R., Joachimiak, A., Zhang, X.C., Bartlam, M., 2006. New antiviral target revealed by the hexameric structure of mouse hepatitis virus nonstructural protein 15. J. Virol. 80, 7909–7917.
- Xu, H.C., Grusdat, M., Pandyra, A.A., Polz, R., Huang, J., Sharma, P., Deenen, R., Köhrer, K., Rahbar, R., Diefenbach, A., 2014. Type I interferon protects antiviral CD8+ T cells from NK cell cytotoxicity. Immunity 40, 949–960.
- Xue, F., Sun, Y., Yan, L., Zhao, C., Chen, J., Bartlam, M., Li, X., Lou, Z., Rao, Z., 2010. The crystal structure of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus nonstructural protein 1β reveals a novel metal-dependent nuclease. J. Virol. 84, 6461–6471.
- Yoo, D., Wootton, S.K., Li, G., Song, C., Rowland, R.R., 2003. Colocalization and interaction of the porcine arterivirus nucleocapsid protein with the small nucleolar RNA-associated protein fibrillarin. J. Virol. 77, 12173–12183.
- Yoo, D., Song, C., Sun, Y., Du, Y., Kim, O., Liu, H.C., 2010. Modulation of host cell responses and evasion strategies for porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. Virus Res. 154, 48–60.
- Zhou, L., Ni, Y.Y., Pineyro, P., Sanford, B.J., Cossaboom, C.M., Dryman, B.A., Huang, Y. W., Cao, D.J., Meng, X.J., 2012. DNA shuffling of the GP3 genes of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) produces a chimeric virus with an improved cross-neutralizing ability against a heterologous PRRSV strain. Virology 434, 96–109.
- Zhu, J., Paul, W.E., 2008. CD4T cells: fates, functions, and faults. Blood 112, 1557– 1569.
- Ziebuhr, J., Snijder, E.J., Gorbalenya, A.E., 2000. Virus-encoded proteinases and proteolytic processing in the Nidovirales. J. Gen. Virol. 81, 853–879.
- Zuckermann, F., Husmann, R., 1996. Functional and phenotypic analysis of porcine peripheral blood CD4/CD8 double-positive T cells. Immunology 87, 500.
- Zuniga, E.I., Macal, M., Lewis, G.M., Harker, J.A., 2015. Innate and adaptive immune regulation during chronic viral infections. Annu. Rev. Virol. 2, 573–597.
- van Kasteren, P.B., Knaap, R.C., van den Elzen, P., Snijder, E.J., Balasuriya, U.B., van den Born, E., Kikkert, M., 2015. In vivo assessment of equine arteritis virus vaccine improvement by disabling the deubiquitinase activity of papain-like protease 2. Vet. Microbiol. 178, 132–137.